## EFFECT OF CADMIUM BIOAVAILABILITY ON PHYTOEXTRACTION FEASIBILITY AND ECOLOGICAL RISK IN A COMPOST-BASED SOIL

## EFFET DE LA BIODISPONIBILITÉ DE CADMIUM SUR LA FAISABILITÉ D'UTILISER LA PHYTOEXTRACTION AINSI QUE LES RISQUES ÉCOLOGIQUES ASSOCIÉS DANS LES SOLS À BASE DE COMPOST

A Thesis Submitted to the Division of Graduate Studies of the Royal Military College of Canada by

Michele A. Parisien, B.Sc.

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

November, 2014

© This thesis may be used within the Department of National Defence but copyright for open publication remains the property of the author.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to thank my wonderful supervisors, Dr. Barb Zeeb and Dr. Allison Rutter, for your guidance, patience, support, and time throughout my M.Sc. You've provided me with so many opportunities to learn and discover, and I greatly appreciate all that you've taught me.

Thank you to the Natural Science and Engineering Resource Council (NSERC) of Canada for making this research possible through the Canadian Research and Development (CRD) and Discovery Grants awarded to Dr. Zeeb and Dr. Rutter. I would also like to thank the Peterborough Gun Club for providing me with a study site, as well as Burt's Greenhouses for supplying me with biochar.

Thank you very much to my fellow graduate students, Mackenzie Denyes and Kaitlin McSorley, for your suggestions, support, assistance, and friendship. Thank you also to the other members of the Zeeb lab, Brian Campbell, Cody Garrett, Theresa Liu, and Alyssa Eves, for all of your help in the lab and field, and also to the Analytical Services Unit staff, including Paula Whitley, Graham Cairns, Bubby Kettlewell, Mesha Thompson, Sonja Koster, and (above all) Mary Andrews, for your guidance in the lab and patience when answering my endless questions.

To my friends, Susan Cameron, Kat Han, Jamie Hurrell, and especially Jordan Aubin, thank you so much for believing in me, for providing me with moral support, and for listening to me deliver the same presentations over and over again without complaining.

Finally, thank you to my parents, Rick and Marilyn Parisien, and my siblings, Ricky and Catherine Parisien, for your support, advice, encouragement, and family visits – I appreciate it more than words can say.

## ABSTRACT

Michele Alexandra Parisien. M.Sc., Environmental Sciences. Royal Military College of Canada. November, 2014. Effect of cadmium bioavailability on phytoextraction feasibility and ecological risk in a compost-based soil. Supervisors: Dr. Barbara A. Zeeb and Dr. Allison Rutter.

The effect of cadmium (Cd) bioavailability on phytoextraction feasibility and ecological risk was investigated in soil amended with municipal solid waste (MSW) and sewage sludge (SS) compost at the Peterborough Gun Club in Peterborough, Canada. Plant uptake was low due to sorption of Cd to stable soil fractions, and it was therefore determined that phytoextraction was not a feasible method of remediating these MSW/SS compost-based soils. Low plant bioavailability limited exposure of higher order receptors to Cd, and an ecological risk assessment (ERA) indicated no potential for risk to any of the seven ecological receptors evaluated at this site. For comparison, risk was also characterized at a nearby PCB-contaminated site using the same seven receptors. Previous research had shown that phytoextraction would be an effective method of remediating this PCB site due to high plant uptake of the contaminant, and an ERA revealed that five of the seven receptors evaluated were potentially at risk of experiencing adverse health effects from PCBs. As ERAs characterize risk under present environmental conditions, the long-term potential for biochar to sorb Cd and limit its bioavailability was evaluated at the Peterborough site. Trends indicated decreasing Cd bioavailability in biochar-amended soil relative to the un-amended control, and this coincided with a significant decrease in organic matter content in the control soil. The results of this thesis emphasize the influence of contaminant bioavailability on phytoextraction feasibility and ecological risk, and demonstrate the potential for biochar to limit long-term Cd bioavailability and risk in MSW/SS compost-amended soil.

**Key Terms:** Cadmium, municipal solid waste, sewage sludge, compost, bioavailability, phytoextraction, ecological risk, biochar.

# RÉSUMÉ

Michele Alexandra Parisien. M.Sc., sciences de l'environnement. Effet de la biodisponibilité de cadmium sur la faisabilité d'utiliser la phytoextraction ainsi que les risques écologiques associés dans les sols à base de compost. Le collège militaire royal du Canada. Novembre, 2014. Directeurs : Dr. Barbara A. Zeeb et Dr. Allison Rutter.

L'effet de la biodisponibilité de cadmium (Cd) sur la faisabilité d'utiliser la phytoextraction ainsi que les risques écologiques associés ont été étudiés dans les sols ou des déchets municipaux solides (DMS) et des boues d'épuration (BE) compostées ont été ajoutés au Club de Tir Peterborough (CTP) à Peterborough, Canada. La phytoextraction de Cd par les plantes était faible grâce à la sorption de Cd sur les fractions de sol stables et la phytoextraction par les plantes n'est donc pas une méthode possible pour rétablir les sols contaminés avec le Cd par l'application de compost produit avec DMS/BE. Cependant, la faible phytoextraction de Cd par les plantes réduit l'exposition du Cd pour les récepteurs écologiques des niveaux trophiques plus élevés sur ce site, et une évaluation des risques écologiques a indiqué qu'il n'y a aucun potentiel de risque. Pour comparaison, les risques écologiques ont aussi été caractérisés sur un site contaminé par des biphényles polychlorés (BPC) en utilisant les mêmes sept récepteurs. Des recherches antérieures avaient montré que la phytoextraction serait une méthode efficace de réhabiliter ce site à cause de la biodisponibilité des BPC élevée, et une évaluation des risques écologiques a indiqué qu'il existe le potentiel de risque à cinq des sept récepteurs évaluées. Étant donné que les évaluations des risques écologiques caractérisent le risque dans les conditions environnementales actuelles, cette étude a permis d'évaluer le potentiel à long terme pour le biocharbon à adsorber le Cd au CTP, et la limitation de sa biodisponibilité a également été évaluée. Les tendances indiquent une diminution de biodisponibilité de Cd dans les sols avec le biocharbon par rapport aux sols de contrôle (sols sans biocharbon) ce qui a coïncidé avec une diminution significative de la teneur en matière organique dans le sol de contrôle et non dans le sol avec biocharbon. Les résultats de cette thèse soulignent l'influence de la biodisponibilité des contaminants sur l'efficacité des plantes à absorber le Cd ainsi que les risques écologiques et démontrent le potentiel pour le biocharbon de limiter la biodisponibilité de Cd à long terme et les risques dans les sols avec DMS/BE compostés.

**Mots clés:** cadmium, déchets municipaux solides, boues d'épuration, compost, biodisponibilité, phytoextraction, risque écologique, biocharbon.

## **CO-AUTHORSHIP STATEMENT**

The student's contributions to the thesis manuscript are as follows:

- Active participant in the initial development of research ideas and projects.
- Primary researcher responsible for the successful implementation and completion of laboratory experiments conducted at the Royal Military College of Canada (RMCC; Kingston, ON), greenhouse experiments conducted at Queen's University (Kingston, ON), and field experiments conducted at the Peterborough Gun Club (PGC; Peterborough, ON).
- Completed all analytical work at both the Analytical Services Unit (Queen's University) and in the Phytotechnologies Laboratory (RMCC).
- Primary risk assessor at the Cd-contaminated PGC and the PCB-contaminated site in Lindsay, ON (Chapter 4).
  - Raw data for the risk assessment of the Lindsay site was taken from the M.Sc. thesis of Smith *et al.*, 2012, however all data interpretation and risk calculations for the site were completed by M. Parisien.
- Principal author on all three research papers (two of which have been submitted to peer-reviewed journals).

**Chapter 3:** Parisien MA, Rutter A, Zeeb B. Feasibility of using phytoextraction to remediate a compostbased soil contaminated with cadmium. (Submitted to the International Journal of Phytoremediation, October 2014).

**Chapter 4:** Parisien MA, Rutter A, Smith BM, Zeeb B. Ecological risk associated with phytoextraction of soil contaminants. (Submitted to the Journal of Hazardous Materials, October 2014).

**Chapter 5:** Parisien MA, Rutter A, Zeeb B. Effect of biochar on cadmium fractionation with organic matter degradation in a soil amended with municipal solid waste and sewage sludge compost.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKN	OWLEDGEMENTS	II
RÉSUI	MÉ	IV
LIST (	OF TABLES	VIII
LIST (	OF FIGURES	X
LIST (	OF ABBREVIATIONS	XI
1. G	ENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
2. LI	ITERATURE REVIEW	
21	CADMILIM IN THE ENVIRONMENT	3
2.2	CADMIUM TOXICITY	
2.2	2.1 Cadmium Toxicity to Plants	
2.2	2.2 Cadmium Toxicity to Animals	4
2.2	REMEDIATION	
2.2	2.1 Phytoextraction	4
	2.2.1.1 Soil Properties Affecting Cadmium Phytoavailability	5
2.2	2.2 Biochar	8
	2.2.2.1 Physical Properties	8
	2.2.2.2 Chemical Properties	8
	2.2.2.3 Biochar in Organic Matter Rich Soils	9
2.2	ECOLOGICAL RISK ASSESSMENT	9
2.2	2.1 The Tiers of ERA	
	2.2.1.1 Screening Assessment	
	2.2.1.2 Preliminary Quantitative Ecological Risk Assessment	
	2.2.1.3 Detailed Quantitative Ecological Risk Assessment	
3. FI	EASIBILITY OF USING PHYTOEXTRACTION TO REMEDIATE A C	OMPOST-BASED
SOIL	CONTAMINATED WITH CADMIUM	
31	ለዋልጥ	13
3.1		
3.2	METHODS AND MATERIALS	
3.5	3.1 Site Description	15
3	3.2 Soil and Plant Collection	16
3	3.3 Greenhouse Study Experimental Design	16
3.	3.4 <i>In-situ</i> Field Study Experimental Design	
3.	3.5 Analytical Procedures	
	3.3.5.1 Soil Characterization	
	3.3.5.2 Cadmium in Soils	
	3.3.5.3 Cadmium in Plants	
3.	3.6 Quality Assurance/Quality Control	
3.	3.7 Statistical Analysis	
3.4	RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
3.4	4.1 Soil Characterization	
3.4	4.2 Cadmium Fractionation in Soil	
3.4	4.3 Plant Biomass	
3.4	4.4 Plant Cadmium Uptake	21
	3.4.4.1 Greenhouse Study	

	3.4.4.2 I	n-situ Field	Study				21
4. ECO	LOGICA	L RISK	ASSOCIATED	WITH	PHYTOEXTRACTION	OF	SOIL
CONTAN	IINAN I S	•••••	••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	•••••	••••••••••••••••••	•••••	24
4.1	ABSTRA	СТ				•••••	25
4.2	INTRODU	JCTION				•••••	
4.3	MATERIA	ALS AND M	IETHODS	•••••		•••••	
4.3.1	Site #	1: Peterborou	ugh, ON (Cd)	•••••		•••••	
4.3.2	Site #2	2: Lindsay, C	DN (PCBs)	•••••		•••••	
4.3.3	A = 2 = 1 = 1	gical Risk A	ssessment	•••••		•••••	
	4.3.3.1 I	Trosure Par	thway Investigation	••••••		•••••	20
	4333 1	Risk Calcular	tions	••••••		•••••	31
44	RESULTS	S AND DISC	USSION	••••••		• • • • • • • • • • • • • •	33
4.4.1	Risk (	Characterizat	ion				
	4.4.1.1 \$	Site # 1: Pete	rborough				
	4.4.1.2 \$	Site # 2: Lind	lsay				
4.5	CONCLU	SIONS	·				
5 FFF	FCT OF F	RIOCHAR	ON CADMIUM I	TRACTIO	NATION WITH OPCAN	IC MA	TTFD
DEGRAI	DATION I	N A SOIL	AMENDED WIT	H MUNIC	TIPAL SOLID WASTE AN	ND SE	WAGE
SLUDGE	COMPOS	ST					
5 1		ĊТ					27
5.1	ABSIKA			•••••		•••••	
5.2 5.3	METHOD		ΤΕΡΙΛΙ ς	•••••		•••••	
531	Site D	AND MA	IENIALS	•••••		•••••	
532	Exper	imental Desi	σn	•••••		•••••	39
533	Analy	tical Method	s			•••••	39
5.3.4	Oualit	v Assurance	and Quality Contro	ol (OA/OC	)		
5.3.5	Statist	ical Analysis	s		<i>,</i>		40
5.4	RESULTS	S AND DISC	CUSSION				
5.4.1	Cadm	ium Fraction	ation				40
5.4.2	Organ	ic Matter Co	ontent				41
5.5	CONCLU	SIONS				•••••	42
6. DISC	CUSSION .	AND CONC	CLUSIONS	•••••		•••••	43
7. LIST	OF REFI	ERENCES		•••••		•••••	45
8. APP	ENDICES	••••••		••••••		•••••	62
8.1	APPENDI	XA					
8.2	APPEND	X B					
8.3	APPENDI	X C					
8.4	APPENDI	IX D					80
8.5	APPEND	IX E				•••••	

# LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 3-1.</b> Soil characterization results for the control soil (potting soil) and low and high Cd soils collected from the PGC for use in the greenhouse experiment
<b>Table 4-1.</b> Properties of soil with low and high Cd concentrations from the Peterborough Site
Table 4-2. Ecological receptors included in the ecological risk assessments of the Peterborough and Lindsay sites
<b>Table 4-3.</b> Exposure factors used to determine the receptor-specific estimated daily intakes of Cd and PCBs at the Peterborough and Lindsay sites, respectively.       32
<b>Table 4-4.</b> Receptor-specific estimated daily intakes and mammalian and avian toxicity reference values for Cd and PCBs, as well as the hazard quotient for each receptor at the Peterborough and Lindsay sites.
<b>Table 5-1.</b> Method used for sequential extraction of Cd from soils.    40
<b>Table A-1.</b> Cadmium concentrations in soil samples collected from the Peterborough Gun Club
<b>Table B-1.</b> Particle size distribution data for the control, low Cd, and high Cd soil treatments.       68
<b>Table B-2.</b> Cation exchange capacity values for all treatments.    69
Table B-3. pH values for all treatments.    69
<b>Table B-4.</b> Soil organic matter content of all treatments determined by loss on ignition (LOI)
Table B-5. Cadmium concentrations of soil, roots, and shoots in each pot of the greenhouse experiment.         70
<b>Table B-6.</b> Soil Cd concentrations of the low and high Cd field plots at the PGC, and root and shoot Cd concentrations of <i>Brassica juncea</i> grown in the field experiment
<b>Table B-7.</b> Sequential extraction results for low Cd and high Cd soils
<b>Table B-8.</b> Final root and shoot dry weights (dw) for plants grown in the greenhouse pot experiment77
Table C-1. Cadmium concentrations in earthworms
<b>Table D-1.</b> Cadmium concentrations in soil fractions of the control and biochar treatment soils before and after the soil ageing experiment.         81

Table D-2. Total (aqua regia) Cd concentrations in the control and biochar treatment soils	85
--	----

Table D-3. Organic matter	r content of the	control and	biochar	treatment	soils at	t the star	t and e	nd of the
soil ageing experiment								

Table E-1. Inductively coupled plasma (ICP) target values for Cd in quality assurance and quality	y control
(QA/QC) samples	

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3-1. Map of southern Ontario with the relative locations of Peterborough and Kingston
Figure 3-2. Fractionation of Cd in the low and high [Cd] soil into six operationally defined fractions20
Figure 3-3. Mean Cd concentrations in plant root and shoot tissue for each treatment in contaminated soil
<b>Figure 3-4.</b> Mean Cd concentrations in root and shoot tissue for <i>B. juncea</i> growing in low and high Cd soil at the Peterborough Gun Club
<b>Figure 5-1.</b> Fractionation of Cd in the Control and Biochar treatments into six operationally defined fractions between one and 185 days
<b>Figure A-1.</b> Map of sample locations at the Peterborough Gun Club corresponding to the sample numbers in Table A-1

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AUF	Area Use Factor
BA	Bioavailability
BAF	Bioaccumulation Factor
BW	Body Weight
CCME	Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment
CEC	Cation Exchange Capacity
Ci	Contaminant concentration of a food item
Cs	Soil contaminant concentration
Cd	Cadmium
DDI	Double De-Ionized
DOM	Dissolved Organic Matter
DQRA	Detailed Quantitative Risk Assessment
EC	Environment Canada
EDI	Estimated Daily Intake
ERA	Ecological Risk Assessment
Fi	Fraction of the diet composed of food item
FIR	Food Ingestion Rate
HQ	Hazard Quotient
HTT	Highest Treatment Temperature
ICP-OES	Inductively Coupled Plasma Optical Emission Spectrometry
ICP-MS	Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry
MOE	Ontario Ministry of the Environment
M.Sc.	Master of Science
MSW	Municipal Solid Waste
NOAEL	No Observed Adverse Effects Level
OM	Organic Matter
PCB	Polychlorinated Biphenyl
PGC	Peterborough Gun Club
PQRA	Preliminary Quantitative Ecological Risk Assessment
PSD	Particle Size Distribution
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
SIR	Soil Ingestion Rate
SS	Sewage Sludge
TF	Translocation Factor
TRV	Toxicity Reference Value
US EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency

### **1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

Cadmium (Cd) is a xenobiotic metal that causes adverse health effects in humans, plants, and animals. Cadmium can mimic essential nutrients such as iron, calcium, and magnesium (Adriano, 2001; Bridges and Zalups, 2005), and its high water solubility allows it to cross biological membranes and interfere with cell function (Tran and Popova, 2013; Stohs *et al.*, 2001). Cadmium may be accumulated by low trophic level organisms and transferred up the food chain (Hunter, 1982). Exposure to Cd can lead to ecological and human health risks including low biomass, chlorosis, and necrosis in plants (Cosio *et al.*, 2006; Cunha *et al.*, 2008), and bone, kidney, and liver disease in humans and other animals (Klaassen *et al.*, 2009; Singh, 2005).

Although Cd occurs naturally in the environment, anthropogenic loading of Cd to soils has increased considerably over the past century due to its use by industry and its many consumer applications (Kabata-Pendias and Mukherjee, 2007; Hutton, 1983). Improper disposal of Cd-containing products and runoff of Cd from roads and fields cause Cd to accumulate in municipal solid waste (MSW) and sewage sludge (SS) (Dean and Suess, 1985). Composted MSW/SS is widely applied to degraded soils to improve soil quality due to its high organic matter and nutrient contents, but amendment with MSW/SS compost can also result in soil Cd concentrations that exceed the guideline of 1.2  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd set by the Ontario Ministry of the Environment (MOE) (MOE, 2011). As Cd does not degrade, it persists for long periods of time in Cd-contaminated soils (Kabata-Pendias, 2000) such as those amended with MSW/SS compost.

Common methods of remediating Cd-contaminated soil include excavation and landfilling, incineration, soil washing, solidification/stabilization, and vitrification (Monferrán and Wunderlin, 2013; Khan *et al.*, 2004; Kabata-Pendias, 2000). Although effective, these methods can negatively affect soil quality, result in soil destruction, or limit future land use. There is therefore a demand for environmentally friendly remediation technologies that maintain soil integrity throughout the remedial process.

Phytoextraction is one such technology, as it uses vascular plants *in-situ* to extract soil contaminants into plant roots and translocate them to the shoots, which are harvested and disposed of (Salt *et al.*, 1998; Cunningham and Ow, 1996). Research has shown that several phytoextractors have the ability to extract significant amounts of Cd from contaminated soil and accumulate them in their shoots (Li *et al.*, 2012; Liu *et al.*, 2004; Schwartz *et al.*, 2003; Ebbs *et al.* 1997). Phytoextraction relies on contaminant mobility and bioavailability (Lasat, 2000), and therefore the successful implementation of phytoextraction requires an understanding of bioavailability and the factors that affect it. Contaminant speciation, soil properties, and other environmental conditions can impact the availability of a contaminant in soil and have a positive or negative impact on phytoextraction success (Kirkham, 2006; He and Singh, 1993; Haghiri, 1974). The results of studies examining plant uptake of Cd from MSW/SS compost-amended soils are conflicting, with some reporting low Cd bioavailability (Kaschl *et al.*, 2002; Simeoni *et al.*, 2002; Sims and Kline, 1991) and others reporting high Cd bioavailability (Kaschl *et al.*, 2002; Simeoni *et al.*, 1984). To date, there are no studies investigating the use of phytoextraction to remediate soil contaminated with Cd from the application of MSW/SS compost.

Ecological risk assessment (ERA) is a useful tool that can be used to estimate the potential for risk associated with phytoextraction. Phytoextraction results in high contaminant concentrations in the aboveground plant tissue, and this might increase the exposure of plant-eating receptors to Cd (Angle and Linacre, 2005). An ERA can be used to estimate the potential risk to receptors from phytoextraction. If contaminant bioavailability is too low for phytoextraction to be feasible, the exposure of receptors to soil contaminants might be low enough to eliminate the potential health risks. In this case, remediation might cause more harm than good, and ERA can be used to determine whether remediation is necessary.

Another environmentally-friendly method of remediating Cd-contaminated soil is to immobilize it in the soil matrix with biochar. Biochar is the carbon-rich product of biomass pyrolysis, and it has a high sorption capacity for cations such as  $Cd^{2+}$ . Its addition to soil reduces the water-solubility of Cd in soils (Park *et al.*, 2011b) and significantly reduces Cd uptake by plants (Bian *et al.*, 2014; Suppadit *et al.*, 2012; Beesley and Marmiroli, 2011; Cui *et al.*, 2011). Because it is a stable form of organic matter that is estimated to persist in soils for several thousands of years (Spokas, 2010; Zimmerman, 2010), biochar might limit Cd bioavailability over the long-term. In addition, its sorption capacity for cations increases as it ages in soil due to the slow oxidation of its surface (Liang *et al.*, 2006), and therefore Cd bioavailability in soil should decrease with time as biochar ages. However, further research is required to ascertain the long-term effect of biochar on Cd bioavailability.

This M.Sc. thesis explores the relationship between contaminant bioavailability, phytoextraction, and ecological risk in an organic matter-rich soil contaminated with Cd from the application of MSW/SS compost at a site in Peterborough, Ontario. Chapter two provides a literature review of Cd toxicity and bioavailability in the environment, Cd phytoextraction and stabilization with biochar, and the process of conducting a preliminary quantitative ecological risk assessment (PQRA). In chapter three, the feasibility of using phytoextraction with native and naturalized plant species to remediate Cd-contaminated soil at the Peterborough site is evaluated. This chapter also includes the results of a Cd sequential extraction study completed for soil at the site with a discussion of its implications for Cd bioavailability to plants. In chapter four, the potential for risk to wildlife receptors from Cd phytoextraction at the PGC was calculated using a PQRA. For comparison, the ecological risk from phytoextraction was also calculated at a PCB-contaminated site located 45 km away in Lindsay, Ontario, where previous studies had demonstrated high PCB bioavailability and effective phytoextraction. Risk was calculated at these sites using the same risk calculations and receptors, and the same kind of site-specific data. In chapter five, organic matter breakdown and Cd fractionation during the ageing process of soil amended with MSW/SS compost is explored, and the long-term effects of biochar on these factors is examined. Chapter 6 includes a discussion of the major findings and conclusions of this thesis as well as directions for future research. Finally, raw data and quality assurance and quality control results are included in appendices A-E.

## 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 CADMIUM IN THE ENVIRONMENT

Cadmium (Cd) is a toxic metal with no known biological function. In its natural form, Cd is usually found associated with zinc (Zn) in parent rock (Hutton, 1983), and is redistributed throughout the environment via volcanic eruptions, forest fires, and dust storms (Naidu *et al.*, 1997). When Zn ores are mined, smelted, and refined, Cd is recovered as a by-product and is used in the production of nickel (Ni)-cadmium batteries, pigments, alloys, and stabilizers for PVC plastics (Adriano, 2001; Mulligan *et al.*, 2001). The production and disposal of these products has led to anthropogenic loading of Cd to the environment, particularly via emissions from industry, runoff from roads and fields, and dumping of Cd-containing liquids, which cause Cd to wash into water treatment systems and accumulate in sewage sludge (Hutton, 1983).

Accumulation and redistribution of Cd via sewage sludge is of particular concern in Canada, as Canada produces up to 2.5 million wet tons of sewage sludge annually (CCME, 2012). Disposal of this waste is costly (US EPA, 2003), and this financial burden has led to a push towards the land application of composted sewage sludge as an alternative to disposal (Pascual *et al.*, 2000). Sewage sludge compost is high in organic matter (OM) and improves soil properties such as water holding capacity, soil aeration, and nutrient content (Aggelides and Londra, 2000), and its application to soil significantly increases plant biomass (Indoria *et al.*, 2013). Sewage sludge can also contain high concentrations of toxic metals such as Cd (Breslin, 1999), and though regulations exist to control the allowable concentrations of toxic substances in sewage sludge composts, metal concentrations in soil can nonetheless increase with repeated application (Hinesly *et al.*, 1984) and cause adverse health effects in humans, plants, and animals.

#### 2.2 CADMIUM TOXICITY

Plants are primarily exposed to Cd via uptake from the soil into the roots, while animal exposure occurs primarily through ingestion of Cd-contaminated soil, plants, and animals. Cadmium has a chemical structure resembling that of essential nutrients including Zn, Ca, and Fe, allowing it to compete with these metals for cell uptake in a process called 'ionic and molecular mimicry' (Adriano, 2001; Bridges and Zalups, 2005).

#### 2.2.1 Cadmium Toxicity to Plants

Cadmium induces toxic effects in plants by disrupting plant cell homeostasis and inhibiting the antioxidant response, resulting in increased concentrations of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Tran and Popova, 2013). Reactive oxygen species cause lipid peroxidation (Mohamed *et al.*, 2012; Romero-Puertas *et al.*, 2004; Chaoui *et al.*, 1997) that disrupts lipid membrane function (Fodor *et al.*, 1995).

Visible symptoms of Cd toxicity in plants include chlorosis, necrosis, defoliation, and reduced biomass (Cosio *et al.*, 2006; Cunha *et al.*, 2008). The ability of plants to withstand these toxic effects is species-specific, and though some hyperaccumulators such as *Thlaspi caerulescens* (alpine pennycress) can accumulate high Cd concentrations (>1000  $\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$ ; Yanai *et al.*, 2006) without exhibiting toxicity

symptoms, most species experience adverse health effects at much lower concentrations ( $<55 \ \mu g \cdot g^{-1}$ ; Khan and Frankland, 1983).

#### 2.2.2 Cadmium Toxicity to Animals

Cadmium interferes with the antioxidant response in animals (Stohs *et al.*, 2001), increasing the ROS abundance and the oxidation of lipids and DNA (Wang *et al.*, 2004; Bagchi *et al.*, 1996). When animal cells are exposed to chronic, low levels of Cd, the production of metallothionein (MT; a low molecular weight protein) is up-regulated to mediate Cd toxicity (Park *et al.*, 2001). Metallothionein binds Cd, and the inactive Cd-MT complex is transported to the kidney where it is filtered and excreted (Wolff *et al.*, 2006; Horner and Smith, 1975). When animal cells are exposed to acute, high levels of Cd, however, the amount of pre-synthesized MT is insufficient to prevent Cd from exerting toxic effects (Squibb *et al.*, 1976). Acute Cd toxicity primarily targets the liver and causes hepatotoxicity (Klaassen *et al.*, 2009).

Although the adverse effects of Cd on human health have been studied for over 150 years (Nordberg, 2009), widespread concern over Cd in the environment was only raised following a mass Cd poisoning in the Jinzu river basin of Japan in the 1940s, when people consuming rice contaminated with Cd from upstream industrial activity developed symptoms of severe Cd toxicity (Singh, 2005). This disease, now known as itai-itai ("ouch-ouch") disease, is caused by chronic Cd exposure resulting in bone, kidney, and liver diseases (Singh, 2005). As a result of this incident, much work has been done to study Cd loading to the environment, implement guidelines for safe Cd concentrations in soil, and develop cost-effective and environmentally friendly methods of remediating soil contaminated with Cd.

#### 2.2 REMEDIATION

#### 2.2.1 Phytoextraction

Phytoextraction involves the uptake of contaminants into plant roots, and the subsequent translocation of those contaminants into the above ground part of the plant (Salt *et al.*, 1998). Phytoextraction is achieved by planting successive crops of a high biomass, fast-growing plant species with expansive root systems that can tolerate high concentrations of a contaminant in soil and accumulate it in their shoots (Garbisu and Alkorta, 2001). Shoots are harvested and removed from the site, and usually undergo a volume and weight reduction step prior to disposal (Salt *et al.*, 1998). This step is accomplished by ashing or composting to reduce the mass and volume of the waste product, which is then either incinerated or directly disposed of in a landfill (Sas-Nowosielska *et al.*, 2004). Theoretically, phytoextraction is an ideal form of remediation, as it is an *in-situ*, low-cost, aesthetically pleasing, and environmentally friendly way to clean up contaminated sites.

Phytoextraction of metals such as Cd has been well-studied, and several plant species have demonstrated the ability to extract Cd into their shoots (Jun and Ling, 2012; Li *et al.*, 2012; Liu *et al.*, 2004; Baker *et al.*, 2000; Ebbs *et al.*, 1997). The two qualities used to measure a plant's phytoextraction effectiveness are its bioaccumulation factor (BAF) and translocation factor (TF) (Fayiga *et al.*, 2004). The BAF is the ratio of the Cd concentration of the plant to that of the soil, and indicates a plant's ability to extract contaminants from soil (Ji *et al.*, 2011). In most cases, a BAF >> 1 is required for effective phytoextraction (Krämer, 2005; McGrath and Zhao, 2003). The TF is the ratio of the Cd concentration of the ability of a plant to translocate Cd to the aboveground

portion of its tissue; the higher the TF the better, as the aboveground biomass is the portion that is removed from the site (Ji *et al.*, 2011).

Cadmium phytoremediation works best in moderately contaminated soils (~5  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd) (Milan *et al.* 2012; Vysloužilová *et al.*, 2003), as phytoextractors growing in highly contaminated soil often display signs of plant toxicity including chlorosis, necrosis, stunted growth, and/or wilting (Ghnaya *et al.*, 2007). A number of laboratory, greenhouse, and field-scale studies have indicated the potential of certain plant species to extract Cd. *Thlaspi caerulescens* is a particularly efficient Cd phytoextractor (Schwartz *et al.*, 2003), and its ability to accumulate high concentrations of Cd in its tissue (>100  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup>) classifies it as a Cd hyperaccumulator (Baker *et al.*, 2000). There are few hyperaccumulators of Cd; the only ones identified to date include *T. caerulescens, Viola baoshanensis* (violet), and possibly *Amaranthus hypochondriacus* (Prince-of-Whales feather) (Li *et al.*, 2012; Liu *et al.*, 2004; Baker *et al.*, 2000). However, hyperaccumulation alone is insufficient for effective phytoextraction; a high biomass yield is also required (McGrath and Zhao, 2003), and in some cases its importance can exceed that of a plant's accumulation capacity. In a study by Ebbs *et al.* (1997), *Brassica juncea* (Indian mustard, a high biomass, moderate Cd-accumulator) was more effective than *T. caerulescens* (a low biomass, high Cd-accumulator) in removing Cd and Zn from sewage sludge-amended soil.

#### 2.2.1.1 Soil Properties Affecting Cadmium Phytoavailability

Successful phytoextraction requires Cd to be phytoavailable (Lasat, 2000), meaning that in order to be extracted, Cd must be present (or have the potential to be present) in the soil solution, as it is from here that plants assimilate nutrients and minerals (Kashem and Singh, 2001; Naidu *et al.*, 1997; Xian, 1989). The speciation of Cd in soil is largely controlled by soil properties and environmental conditions.

#### Cadmium Speciation

Cadmium is predominantly present in the soil solution as the free divalent cation,  $Cd^{2+}$  (Alloway, 2013). Cadmium (II) can be retained in solution or sorbed to the solid phase, with major sorbents being organic matter particulates, silicate clay minerals, and Fe and Mn oxides (Naidu *et al.*, 1997; Zachara *et al.*, 1992). The relative importance of these sorbents varies with their abundance in soil. Cadmium (II) can be bound to these sorbents via inner-sphere (specific) adsorption (Sparks, 2003), which occurs when  $Cd^{2+}$  forms a covalent bond with the negatively charged O atom of a functional group on a soil colloid (Brady and Weil, 2013). This chemical bond binds Cd specifically, and is not easily broken. Cadmium (II) can also be bound by outer-sphere (nonspecific) adsorption (Guo *et al.*, 2006), which occurs when one or more water molecules are present between  $Cd^{2+}$  and the colloidal surface, causing  $Cd^{2+}$  to be sorbed to the negatively charged O-containing functional group via electrostatic attraction instead of covalent bonding (Brady and Weil, 2013). Cations held by outer-sphere adsorption are more weakly held than those bound by inner-sphere adsorption, and can be replaced by other, similarly charged cations in solution in a process called cation exchange (Naidu *et al.*, 1997).

Though the solid phase dominates Cd sorption in soil,  $Cd^{2+}$  can also form complexes with soluble inorganic or organic ligands in solution that mobilize Cd in soil (Alloway, 2005). Cadmium can form organo-metallic complexes with various dissolved organic matter (DOM) compounds in soil such as fulvic acids and low molecular weight organic acids released by microbes and plant roots (Kim *et al.*, 2010). In saline soils,  $Cd^{2+}$  can bind to  $Cl^{-}$  or  $SO_4^{2-}$  to form  $CdCl_2$  and  $CdSO_4$ , respectively, both highly soluble Cd species (Alloway, 2005; Naidu *et al.*, 1997) that are bioavailable to plants (Kookana *et al.*,

1999). These soluble Cd-ligand complexes along with the free  $Cd^{2+}$  ions in solution and those released by cation exchange represent the fraction of Cd in soil that is most available for plant uptake.

Under strong reducing conditions,  $SO_4^{2^-}$  is reduced to  $S^{2^-}$ , which can precipitate with  $Cd^{2^+}$  to form CdS (greenockite), an insoluble Cd mineral that is unavailable for plant uptake (Alloway, 2005). Cadmium can also precipitate with  $CO_3^{2^-}$  to form CdCO<sub>3</sub> (otavite), another insoluble Cd mineral, though this reaction only occurs in the presence of abundant anions at high pH (>7.0) and high Cd concentration (>100 µg·g<sup>-1</sup>) (Alloway, 2005; Bataillard *et al.*, 2003).

#### **Organic Matter Content**

Organic matter (OM) is an important soil characteristic influencing soil Cd sorption (Shaheen, 2009; Kirkham, 2006; Hooda and Alloway, 1998). Soil OM (or soil humus) is characterized by its dark color, its ability to form stable complexes with metal cations, and its high buffering, cation exchange, and water holding capacities (Sparks, 2003). Soil OM is composed of non-humic substances, which are easily decomposable and have a short residency time in soil, and humic substances, which are high molecular weight compounds that persist in soil for long periods of time (Sparks, 2003). Humic substances can be further divided into fulvic acids, humic acids, and humin, and these are distinguished based on their solubility in acid or base.

Humic substances are present in soil either as colloids in the solid phase or as dissolved organic matter (DOM) in the solution phase, with considerable implications for the mobility and phytoavailability of Cd (Naidu *et al.*, 1997); DOM increases metal phytoavailability, whereas metals bound to solid phase OM are removed from the soil solution and are unavailable for plant uptake.

DOM in the soil solution is part of the labile fraction of soil OM, and consists primarily of low molecular weight organic acids such as fulvic and amino acids (Krishnamurti and Naidu, 2003). These compounds can increase Cd mobility in soil by forming soluble organo-metal complexes with Cd in solution (Kaschl *et al.*, 2002; Almås *et al.*, 2000). As these DOM complexes can be taken up by plants, sorption to DOM increases not only the mobility of Cd, but also its bioavailability (Antoniadis and Alloway, 2002).

However, dissolved humic and fulvic acids makes up only a small proportion of total soil OM; solid phase humic and fulvic acids are the predominant form of OM in soils (Young, 2013; Almås *et al.*, 2000), and they sorb and immobilize Cd (Shaheen, 2009; Ge and Hendershot, 2005). This solid state OM has a large concentration of negatively charged carboxyl and phenolic functional groups on its surface that can bind divalent cations (such as Cd) by both inner-sphere and outer-sphere complexation (Loganathan *et al.*, 2012; McLean and Bledsoe, 1996). The sorption capacity of OM is positively correlated with the surface area of the OM colloids due to the higher number of metal sorption sites on the colloid surface (Ge and Hendershot, 2005; Hooda and Alloway, 1998). Organic matter is variably charged, and its ability to sorb metal cations increases with pH (Morais *et al.*, 1976; Vinkler *et al.*, 1976). At high pH, OM-rich soils can significantly decrease plant bioavailability of Cd due to sorption by cation exchange (Haghiri, 1974).

#### Cation Exchange Capacity

A soil's cation exchange capacity is the total amount of exchangeable cations that it can adsorb at a given pH (Bache, 1976). Plant uptake of Cd is influenced by the cation exchange capacity (CEC) of the soil, with increasing CEC leading to decreased plant uptake (Miller *et al.*, 1976). Cation exchange is an

outer-sphere adsorption reaction that occurs when a cation in solution displaces a cation sorbed to the negatively-charged O atom of the functional groups on the surface of soil colloids (Brady and Weil, 2013). This newly sorbed cation can then in turn be displaced by another cation in solution in a continuous process. Cation exchange is pH-dependent; at low pH, the ratio of  $H^+:Cd^{2+}$  in the soil solution is high, and these ions will adsorb and desorb from the colloidal surface by cation exchange until an equilibrium is reached whereby the ratio of  $H^+:Cd^{2+}$  ions adsorbed to soil colloids is equal to that of its ratio in solution (Brady and Weil, 2013). Therefore, more  $Cd^{2+}$  will be present in the soil solution at low pH due to the high proton concentration. However, as pH increases,  $H^+$  cations dissociate from the O atom of functional groups on the surface of clay and organic matter colloids, increasing the net negative charge of the soil and the available sorption sites for Cd binding (Morais *et al.*, 1976).

Cadmium competes with other metal cations for exchange sites in soil. These cations can come in the form of nutrients such as Na<sup>+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup>, or Ca<sup>2+</sup>, with Ca<sup>2+</sup> being the strongest competitor for exchange sites on soil colloids (Naidu *et al.*, 1997). Soils rich in Ca can therefore have a considerable impact on Cd sorption and mobility. In multi-metal polluted soils,  $Zn^{2+}$ , Pb<sup>2+</sup>, and Cu<sup>2+</sup>, among other toxic metals, can compete with Cd<sup>2+</sup> for sorption sites (Fontes *et al.*, 2000). In these soils, Cd is usually present at a much lower concentration than other metal cations, and its competition with these metals for sorption sites can decrease its sorption coefficient significantly (Kookana *et al.*, 1999).

#### Soil pH

There is general agreement in the literature that pH is the single most important factor affecting Cd sorption processes in variably charged soils (Naidu *et al.*, 1997), and as sorption strongly influences Cd solubility, pH ultimately affects Cd bioavailability to plants. As pH increases, H<sup>+</sup> cations are released from the O-containing functional groups of Fe, Al, and Mn oxyhydroxides (e.g. Al—O<sup>–</sup>), organic matter (e.g. R—OO<sup>–</sup>), and clay silicates (Morais *et al.*, 1976). This release of protons increases the negative surface charge density on the soil colloid, attracting and binding metal cations such as Cd<sup>2+</sup> by outer-sphere adsorption (Karak *et al.*, 2005). Both outer-sphere and inner-sphere Cd adsorption increase rapidly with pH until they reach a plateau at which sorption has reached its maximum capacity (Tiller *et al.*, 1984).

#### Other Factors Affecting Cadmium Sorption to Soil

Metals have different characteristics that result in varying affinities for the surfaces of soil particles (Shaheen, 2009). Metals with a relatively small hydrated radius, high electronegativity, and a low hydrolysis constant ( $pK_H$ ) have a higher affinity for sorption sites (Shaheen, 2009; Alloway, 2005; McBride, 1994). A small hydrated radius decreases the distance between the metal cation and the negatively-charged exchange sites at the surface of the soil or biochar particle, which increases the force of attraction between the two in accordance with Coulomb's Law (Shaheen, 2009). The higher the valency of a metal ion, the better its ability to replace an ion attached to the soil surface (Alloway, 2005). A metal with a relatively high electronegativity is better at attracting the surface negative charges on a soil colloid than a metal with a low electronegativity (McBride, 1994).

Cadmium sorption is also affected by competition with other cations for sorption sites. Cadmium is usually found alongside Zn and Pb in soils, and studies comparing the soil sorption of Cd, Zn, and Pb demonstrate the differences in affinities among these metals due to the characteristics mentioned above (Shaheen, 2009; *et al.*, 2008; Saha *et al.*, 2002). Saha *et al.* (2002) correctly predicted the Pb  $\gg$  Zn > Cd sequence of sorption affinity to two different substrates based on the metals' respective pK<sub>H</sub>. Shaheen

(2009) studied the sorption of Pb and Cd in soils from Egypt and Greece and found that Pb has a higher distribution coefficient ( $K_d$ ) than Cd, meaning that Pb is retained more strongly than Cd by soils. This was probably due to the difference in characteristics between the two metals; Pb<sup>2+</sup> has a smaller hydrated radius, a lower pK<sub>H</sub>, and is more electronegative than Cd<sup>2+</sup> (Shaheen, 2009).

#### 2.2.2 Biochar

Biochar is the carbon-rich product of biomass pyrolysis in a low oxygen and relatively low temperature (<700°C) environment (Lehmann and Joseph, 2009). The process used to produce biochar is similar to that used to produce charcoal, though these two products differ based on their intended use; while charcoal is intended to provide a source of fuel, biochar is used as a soil amendment (Lehmann and Joseph, 2009). There are four traditional reasons to produce and amend soils with biochar: 1) soil improvement; 2) waste management; 3) energy production; and 4) mitigation of climate change (Lehmann and Joseph, 2009). Biochar also has a fifth emerging purpose: 5) the sorption of contaminants such as Cd.

Contaminant-sorbing biochars are divided into two main categories: those produced from plant material (wood chips, construction waste, crop and yard waste, etc.), and those produced from animal material (manure, bones, etc.). These biochars confer different advantages to soil based on their physical and chemical properties, with plant-based biochars primarily improving soil structure and porosity, and manure-based biochars primarily improving the soil nutrient content (Cantrell *et al.*, 2012; Uzoma *et al.*, 2011; Uchimiya *et al.*, 2010; Steiner *et al.*, 2007).

#### 2.2.2.1 Physical Properties

As the biochar feedstock is pyrolyzed, it undergoes a reduction in volume and mass as its organic components are volatilized (Azargohar *et al.*, 2014; Kloss *et al.*, 2012; Laine *et al.*, 1991). The basic physical structure of the feedstock is retained throughout this process, resulting in an end product with a high density of micro-, meso-, and macro-pores that greatly increase its surface area (Laine *et al.*, 1991). Highest treatment temperature (HTT), the highest temperature achieved during pyrolysis, is an important factor influencing the physical properties of biochar. As the HTT increases, particle size distribution (PSD) decreases and OM volatilization increases, increasing the pore density and surface area of the biochar (Sun *et al.*, 2014; Dai *et al.*, 2013). A high surface area has positive implications for remediation, as it increases the space available for contaminant sorption.

#### 2.2.2.2 Chemical Properties

Biochar can sorb Cd and other cations by cation exchange due to the high density of carboxyl groups on its surface (Uchimiya *et al.*, 2012; Appel *et al.*, 2008). Biochars generally have a high pH (>7.0), and can increase the pH of acidic soils (Cantrell *et al.*, 2012; Kloss *et al.*, 2012). This further contributes to the immobilization of Cd in soil due to the positive correlation between pH and CEC (Beesley and Marmiroli, 2011).

The HTT strongly influences the ability of biochar to sorb metal cations. Biochars produced at low HTTs ( $\leq$ 400°C) have a relatively high negative surface charge density, high CEC, high hydrogen to carbon ratio (H:C), low pH, and low stability (Sun *et al.*, 2014; Kloss *et al.*, 2012). Biochars produced at high HTTs (>400°C) have a relatively low negative surface charge density, low CEC, low H:C, and high stability due to its high degree of aromaticity (Azargohar *et al.*, 2014; Sun *et al.*, 2014; Kloss *et al.*, 2012). Therefore, biochars produced at low HTTs will be more effective at sorbing contaminants, but will also degrade faster than biochars produced at high HTTs.

Exposure to air results in the slow oxidation of the biochar surface as it ages in soil, leading to the formation of oxygen-containing functional groups on its surface (Cheng *et al.*, 2006). The incorporation of oxygen into the graphite-like structure of biochar results in a loss of positive surface charge and a gain in negative surface charge (Cheng *et al.*, 2008), increasing the CEC of the biochar and its sorption capacity for metal cations (Liang *et al.*, 2006).

#### 2.2.2.3 Biochar in Organic Matter Rich Soils

The degree to which biochar will affect contaminant immobilization depends on the sorption capacity of the soil it is amending; metal immobilization by biochar is higher in soils with low sorption capacities than those with high sorption capacities (Uchimiya *et al.*, 2011). As OM-rich soils have a high CEC, biochar should have a more pronounced effect on Cd immobilization in low OM soils than in high OM soils (Shaheen *et al.*, 2009). However, OM breaks down over time, and soil Cd concentrations might increase as it is desorbed from soil throughout the degradation process. Biochar (particularly those produced at high HTTs) is a highly stable form of OM with an estimated half-life on the order of  $10^2$ - $10^7$  years (Spokas, 2010; Zimmerman, 2010). As it also has a CEC that increases with its residency time in soil (Liang *et al.*, 2006), biochar has the potential to limit the long-term bioavailability of Cd in OM-rich soils and the associated human and environmental health risks.

#### 2.2 ECOLOGICAL RISK ASSESSMENT

Ecological risk assessment (ERA) is a tool used to evaluate the potential for receptors to experience adverse effects from exposure to a chemical stressor present in the environment (CCME, 1996; MOE, 1996). In an ERA, the receptors are the plant and animal communities at a site, and the stressor is the chemical contamination present at that site. Ecological risk assessment is used to aid risk-based decision making for contaminated sites, particularly when there are significant ecological concerns, unacceptable data gaps, or special site characteristics that should be considered prior to remediation (CCME, 1996).

Risk assessments are either probabilistic or deterministic, and the differences between the two are primarily based on variability and uncertainty (Stark, 2000). A probabilistic risk assessment generates a range of risk values and indicates the probability that risk will occur given a particular set of circumstances, while a deterministic risk assessment is based on a single, "worst-case" estimate of exposure and does not account for any variability associated with risk (Stark, 2000). Deterministic risk assessments use highly conservative exposure and toxicity data, and results indicating no potential for risk can therefore be accepted with a high degree of confidence (CCME, 1996). The deterministic risk assessment is the most common type of risk assessment, and it follows a tiered approach to risk analysis.

#### 2.2.1 The Tiers of ERA

There are three tiers of an ERA: 1) the screening assessment; 2) the preliminary quantitative risk assessment (PQRA); and 3) the detailed quantitative risk assessment (DQRA). Each tier includes the same four components: receptor characterization, exposure assessment, hazard assessment, and risk assessment. The ERA process begins with a screening assessment, and if, upon its completion, the risk is considered to be adequately characterized, the process ends and the results are reported to risk managers. If the risk is not considered to be adequately characterized, the process moves upwards through the tiers, with each tier reducing uncertainty, refining conceptual models and endpoints, and becoming increasingly quantitative, predictive, and site-specific.

#### 2.2.1.1 Screening Assessment

The screening assessment uses existing information from the literature or from previous studies of the site, and usually requires no additional sampling (CCME, 1997). In this tier, the receptor characterization component establishes the receptors of concern by identifying potentially exposed, sensitive, or otherwise significant species at the site and the surrounding area and compiling their life histories (CCME, 1996). Exposure assessment involves characterizing the contaminant of concern, including its transport pathways and fate in the environment, the extent of contamination at the site, identification of possible exposure pathways, and estimation of uptake into higher trophic organisms. Hazard assessment relates the level of contamination at the site to its potential toxicity to receptors by extrapolating from toxicity data in the literature. Finally, risk characterization combines the previous components of the screening assessment to qualitatively characterize risk as being high, low, or negligible. Risk characterization also includes uncertainty analysis, wherein data gaps are identified and uncertainty is determined to be either acceptable or unacceptable (US EPA, 1998). When extrapolating from the literature, the most conservative values are always used to provide a conservative estimate of risk.

#### 2.2.1.2 Preliminary Quantitative Ecological Risk Assessment

The PQRA builds on the information collected in the screening assessment, and fills data gaps by collecting site-specific data through field sampling programs. Receptor characterization for the PQRA includes the identification of the types of habitats available in the area, their proximity to the contaminated site, the type of surface cover, soil type, etc. (CCME, 1997). Life history data is compiled for each receptor of concern, including dietary components, food and soil ingestion rates, body weight, migration, and home range size (CCME, 1997). Exposure assessment for this stage of ERA involves additional field sampling of potentially contaminated media to further elucidate patterns of contamination and to determine its distribution at the site. Potential sources of exposure including food items (plants and worms, among others), soil, water, and air are sampled to provide estimates of exposure to receptors (CCME, 1996). A receptor's estimated daily intake (EDI) of a contaminant is calculated using its various exposure pathways and the contaminant concentration of the media it is exposed to (Sample and Suter, 1994):

Estimated Daily Intake =  $\frac{\left[\sum (C_i \times F_i \times FIR_i) + (C_s \times SIR)\right] \times AUF \times BA \times EF}{BW}$ 

 $C_i$  = Contaminant concentration of food item (i) (µg·g<sup>-1</sup> ww)  $F_i$  = Fraction of the diet composed of food item (i) (unitless)  $FIR_i$  = Food Ingestion Rate for food item (i) (kg·day<sup>-1</sup> ww)  $C_s$  = Soil contaminant concentration (µg·g<sup>-1</sup> dw) SIR = Soil ingestion rate (kg·day<sup>-1</sup> dw) AUF = Area use factor (unitless) BA = Bioavailability (1) EF = Exposure Frequency (weeks/year) BW = Bodyweight (kg ww)

The hazard assessment quantitatively estimates the toxic effects of site contamination to receptors. Toxicity tests are completed using the species of concern or an appropriate surrogate, though toxicity data can also be extrapolated from the literature (CCME, 1996). The dose or concentration at which there are no observed adverse effects is called the toxicity reference value (TRV). Risk characterization for a PQRA includes a quantitative indication of risk using the quotient method, wherein a receptor's EDI is divided by its TRV to yield the hazard quotient (HQ):

 $Hazard \ Quotient = \frac{Estimated \ Daily \ Intake}{Toxicity \ Reference \ Value}$ 

If the HQ is greater than one, then there is a potential for risk to this receptor group. If the HQ is less than one, then no risk is assumed for that receptor group. Preliminary quantitative risk characterization also includes an estimate of uncertainty associated with the HQ (US EPA, 1998; CCME, 1996).

#### 2.2.1.3 Detailed Quantitative Ecological Risk Assessment

In most situations, ERAs can be completed to satisfaction with a PQRA. However, if the uncertainty associated with an individual ERA component is unacceptable, a DQRA can be completed for that component (CCME, 1996). This tier of ERA is highly detailed and complex, and is usually reserved for sites that are particularly large or contain sensitive or essential habitat. The risk assessment included in this thesis was completed to satisfaction using a PQRA, and therefore a DQRA was not applicable to this thesis.

# 3. FEASIBILITY OF USING PHYTOEXTRACTION TO REMEDIATE A COMPOST-BASED SOIL CONTAMINATED WITH CADMIUM

## Michele A. Parisien<sup>a</sup>, Allison Rutter<sup>b</sup>, and Barbara A. Zeeb<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, Royal Military College of Canada, Kingston, ON, Canada K7K 7B4
Fax.: 613-542-9489
Tel.: 613-541-6000 x6713 (B.A.Z) 613-214-6799 (M.A.P.)
Email: michele.parisien@rmc.ca (M.A.P.)
Email: zeeb-b@rmc.ca (B.A.Z.)

<sup>b</sup> School of Environmental Studies, Biosciences Complex, Queen's University, Kingston, ON, Canada K7L 3N6
Fax.: 613-533-2897
Tel.: 613-533-2642
Email: ruttera@queensu.ca

#### 3.1 ABSTRACT

The application of municipal solid waste (MSW) and sewage sludge (SS) composts to soils may affect soil organic matter (OM) and hence phytoextraction feasibility. Greenhouse and in-situ field experiments were used to determine the potential for phytoextraction to remediate soil contaminated with cadmium (Cd) from MSW/SS compost application at a site in Peterborough, Canada. For the greenhouse experiment, one native (Chenopodium album) and three naturalized (Poa compressa, Brassica juncea, *Helianthus annuus*) plant species were planted in soil containing no detectable Cd ( $<1.0 \ \mu g \cdot g^{-1}$ ), and soil collected from the site containing low Cd concentrations (5.0 $\pm$ 0.3 µg·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd), and high Cd concentrations (16.5±1.2  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd). Plant uptake was low for all species, as indicated by root BAFs  $\leq 0.5$  for all but *P*. compressa in the low Cd treatment (BAF 1.0). Only B. juncea accumulated Cd in its shoots, though uptake was low (BAF  $\leq 0.3$ ) and there was no significant difference in shoot BAF between the low and high Cd treatments (p>0.05). For the field experiment, B. juncea was planted in-situ in areas of low and high Cd concentrations. Brassica juncea Cd uptake was low as indicated by root and shoot BAFs <0.2 for both treatments. Sequential extraction analysis indicated that Cd is retained primarily by soil fractions with relatively low bioavailability, and phytoextraction is therefore not a feasible method of remediation at this site. Though low Cd bioavailability has negative implications for Cd phytoextraction from soils amended with MSW/SS compost, it may limit receptor exposure to Cd sufficiently to eliminate the potential for risk at this site.

**Key Terms**: Cadmium, municipal solid waste, sewage sludge, compost, phytoextraction, organic matter, cation exchange capacity

#### 3.2 INTRODUCTION

Soil is a valuable natural resource that is largely being depleted due to pollution and erosion (Pimentel, 2006). Efforts to economically restore degraded soils and preserve them for future use include amendment with municipal solid waste (MSW) and sewage sludge (SS) compost (Pascual *et al.*, 2000). The organic component of MSW is largely composed of residential food, leaf, and yard waste (Environment Canada, 2013), while SS is the solid or semi-solid organic waste produced during the wastewater treatment process. Municipal solid waste and SS are composted either together or separately to generate nutrient- and organic matter (OM)-rich compost that improves soil properties such as cation exchange capacity (CEC), pH, bulk density, and water retention (Bertoncini *et al.*, 2008; Cheng *et al.*, 2007). However, MSW/SS compost can contain high concentrations of metals such as cadmium (Cd) (Smith, 2009). Cadmium is a xenobiotic metal that enters the environment anthropogenically through the production and disposal of products such as nickel (Ni)-Cd batteries, pigments, alloys, and stabilizers for polyvinyl chloride (PVC) plastics (Adriano, 2001; Mulligan *et al.*, 2001). Cadmium is toxic to humans, plants, and animals, and despite regulations governing the allowable metal concentrations for the use of MSW/SS compost as soil amendments, their application can increase Cd concentrations in soil (Alloway and Jackson, 1991; Baker *et al.*, 1979).

Phytoextraction is an environmentally-friendly alternative to excavation and chemical remediation methods, as it uses vascular plants *in-situ* to extract soil contaminants into the roots and translocate them to the shoots, which are harvested and compacted for off-site disposal (Salt *et al.*, 1998). Using site-specific native or naturalized species further reduces the environmental impact of phytoextraction (Ghosh and Singh, 2005), as it minimizes disturbance to the site's ecology. Native plants are those that have originated in a region naturally without human involvement (Pysek *et al.*, 2004), whereas naturalized plants are non-native species that are able to reproduce and sustain populations through several life cycles (Richardson *et al.*, 2000) while remaining in balance with the ecological community to which they belong (Hallett, 2006). Because phytoextraction preserves the soil matrix and maintains soil properties, it is an attractive remediation option for high quality soils such as those amended with MSW/SS compost.

Only metals present in the soil solution are readily available for plant uptake. Therefore, OM influences phytoextraction success in two opposing ways: solid-state OM can sorb Cd and reduce its phytoavailability (Kukier *et al.*, 2010; Kaschl *et al.*, 2002), while dissolved organic matter (DOM) in the soil solution forms soluble complexes with Cd, increasing its mobility and phytoavailability (Wong *et al.*, 2007; Antoniadus and Alloway, 2002). Although solid state OM colloids are the predominant form of OM in soil humus, DOM is nevertheless present at lower levels in the soil solution due to the excretion of root exudates by plants (Li *et al.*, 2011) and the decomposition of colloidal OM (Martínez and McBride, 1999).

Fresh, uncomposted MSW/SS can significantly increase metal solubility and phytoavailability due to the composition and high concentrations of DOM (Salati *et al.* 2010; Ashworth and Alloway, 2008; Antoniadis and Alloway, 2002; Zhou *et al.*, 2000). In contrast, composted MSW/SS has a smaller fraction of DOM (Gao *et al.*, 2005; Castaldi *et al.*, 2005) and a greater proportion of large, humified, and insoluble organic acids (Jouraiphy *et al.*, 2005; Kaschl *et al.*, 2002; Chefetz *et al.*, 1996). This increase in stable OM in composted MSW/SS increases metal binding to the solid phase, and decreases metal solubility in soil and its availability to plants (Shuman *et al.*, 2002; Wen *et al.*, 2002; Sims and Kline, 1991). While most studies of composted MSW/SS follow this trend, some report high metal phytoavailability despite composting (Kaschl *et al.*, 2000; Simeoni *et al.*, 1984). The results of these studies indicate that other soil factors also play an important role in governing Cd complexation and its uptake by plants, and this affects the potential of phytoextraction to remediate MSW/SS compost amended soils.

In this study, greenhouse and field experiments are conducted using one native (*Chenopodium album*) and three naturalized (*Poa compressa, Brassica juncea, Helianthus annuus*) plant species (Cutright *et al.*, 2010; Abe *et al.*, 2008; Ebbs *et al.*, 1997; Park *et al.*, 2011b; Lai *et al.*, 2008) to extract Cd from a MSW/SS compost-amended soil in Peterborough, Canada. The objectives are to determine whether phytoextraction can be used to successfully remediate Cd contamination in MSW/SS compost-amended soils, and to elucidate the relationship between Cd fractionation and bioavailability in soils using sequential extraction.

### 3.3 METHODS AND MATERIALS

#### 3.3.1 Site Description

In 2010, a Cd-contaminated compost was used to restore a 0.805 ha disturbed area at the Peterborough Gun Club (PGC) in Peterborough, Ontario, Canada (Figure 3-1). The disturbed area was originally a natural vegetated habitat situated at the edge of a drumlin, which was flattened and denuded of vegetation to create a clay floor for a firing range. In 2009, the decision was made to restore the area rather than complete the construction of the new range. Compost produced from MSW and SS was obtained from a Kingston, Ontario company and mixed with topsoil and mulch to cover the clay layer. Application of this compost at the site resulted in soil Cd concentrations up to 21.4  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd, exceeding the standard of 1.2  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd set by the Ontario Ministry of the Environment (MOE; MOE, 2011). The compost was applied in a ~30 cm thick layer across the site, and the level of Cd contamination is uniform throughout the depth of this soil layer. The underlying clay layer does not have a detectable concentration of Cd. Despite this contamination, the soil at the site supported an abundant and diverse community of native and naturalized plant and animal species at the time of sampling in 2012.



**Figure 3-1.** Map of southern Ontario with the relative locations of Peterborough and Kingston. The Peterborough Gun Club property is shown in the black box, and the contaminated site is outlined in red.

#### 3.3.2 Soil and Plant Collection

Fifty nine discreet soil samples (~200 g wet weight) were collected from a 0-20 cm depth in a grid pattern (at 10 m intervals in a 100×70 m grid) to determine the concentrations and distribution of Cd in the soil (Appendix A - Figure A-1). Soil samples were stored in Whirlpak<sup>®</sup> bags at  $-15^{\circ}$ C until analysis. Subsequently, bulk soil was collected from known areas of low and high Cd contamination for characterization and use in greenhouse studies. Bulk soil was air dried, sieved to <2 mm, and homogenized using the one-dimensional Japanese slab cake method (Pitard, 1993) and stored at room temperature until use.

#### 3.3.3 Greenhouse Study Experimental Design

Plants were grown in soil in triplicate in three treatments: i) a control treatment using clean uncontaminated potting soil (<1.0  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd; n=12); ii) a low (5.0±0.3  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd; n=12) Cd treatment; and iii) a high (16.5±1.2  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd; n=12) Cd treatment using bulk soil collected from the PGC site. Plants were grown in the Queen's University (Kingston, Ontario) greenhouse at 28.2±5.7 °C, and soil was maintained at 30% moisture. Plants were harvested after 50 days.

#### 3.3.4 In-situ Field Study Experimental Design

Plots measuring  $1 \times 2$  m were established in areas of low (8.9±2.0 µg·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd) and high (19.3±1.9 µg·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd) Cd concentrations at the PGC for a field-scale phytoextraction feasibility study. Plots were established by removing the existing vegetation and rototilling the soil to a depth of 20 cm to homogenize the soil. Seeds of *B. juncea* were sown in all plots at a density of 12 plants/m<sup>2</sup>. Plots were watered weekly for three months, at which time six plants were randomly harvested from each plot. Roots were separated from shoots, washed, and stored in Ziploc<sup>®</sup> bags at -15 °C until analysis.

#### 3.3.5 Analytical Procedures

#### 3.3.5.1 Soil Characterization

Soil characterization included particle size distribution (PSD), pH, cation exchange capacity (CEC), organic matter (OM) content, total Cd concentration, and Cd fractionation. All analyses were conducted at the Analytical Services Unit at Queen's University except for PSD, which was conducted at the Royal Military College of Canada (RMCC) by mechanical sieving. The pH was measured by mixing dry soil sample with double deionized (DDI) water at a 1:2 ratio, manually shaking for two minutes, allowing the solid residue to settle, and measuring the supernatant with a pH meter. The OM content was determined by loss on ignition, and the CEC was measured using the solium acetate method according to Laird and Fleming (2008).

#### 3.3.5.2 Cadmium in Soils

For total Cd analysis, soil samples were air-dried, homogenized, sieved to <2 mm, and ground with a mortar and pestle. Subsamples (0.5 g) were measured into glass DigiPrep tubes with 7 mL double deionized (DDI) water, 2 mL HNO<sub>3</sub>, and 6 mL HCl prior to digestion at 95°C for 330 minutes. Samples were cooled and diluted to 25 mL with DDI water, then filtered into glass tubes using Whatman® No. 40 filter paper.

The sequential extraction scheme of Tessier *et al.* (1979) was used to determine the fractionation of Cd in soil, and was modified to include a water-soluble fraction as in Ma and Rao (1997). Briefly, a 1 g soil sample was sequentially extracted into five operationally-defined fractions: F1) water-soluble (double de-ionized (DDI) water, agitated for 2 hr); F2) exchangeable (1 M MgCl<sub>2</sub> (pH 7.0)); F3) bound to carbonates (1 M NaOAc (pH 5.0 with HOAc)); F4) bound to iron (Fe) and manganese (Mn) oxides (0.04 M NH<sub>2</sub>OH-HCl in 25% (v/v) HOAc (pH 2.0)); F5) bound to OM (0.02 M HNO<sub>3</sub> plus 30% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (pH 2.0)); F6) residual (*aqua regia* (3:1 HCl/HNO<sub>3</sub>)). Following each extraction, the samples were centrifuged, the supernatants were filtered through 0.45 µm filters, and analyzed by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES).

#### 3.3.5.3 Cadmium in Plants

To analyze plant Cd concentrations, plants were washed with water, patted dry, roots were separated from shoots, and dried in a vented oven at 70°C for 24 h. Plant samples were ground using a coffee grinder, and 0.5 g subsamples were measured into glass crucibles and dry-ashed in a muffle

furnace for 20 minutes at 150 °C, one hour at 250 °C, and three hours at 500 °C. Ashed samples were digested on a hot plate under watchglass cover for four hours with 1 mL HNO<sub>3</sub> and 3 mL HCl. Watchglass covers were removed, two drops  $H_2O_2$  were added to each sample, and sample volumes were reduced to 2 mL. Samples were diluted to 12.5 mL with DDI water and filtered into glass ICP tubes using Whatman® No. 40 filter paper. Plant samples collected from the greenhouse experiment were analyzed by ICP-OES, and plant samples collected from the *in-situ* field study were analyzed by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry (ICP-MS).

#### 3.3.6 Quality Assurance/Quality Control

One method blank, one certified reference material, and two analytical duplicates were included for every 14 samples analyzed. The mean relative standard deviation for all duplicate samples was 7.6 $\pm$ 9.2% (n=28). All blanks were below the ICP-OES and ICP-MS detection limits for Cd of 1.0 and 0.05 µg·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd, respectively. Certified reference materials SS-2 and NIST-1570A had mean percent recoveries of 100.0 $\pm$ 13.3% (n=6), and 90.6 $\pm$ 11.6% (n=9), respectively, as compared to the lab certified values.

#### 3.3.7 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using S+ version 8.2 (Tibco Software Inc., USA). All Cd concentrations and plant weights are reported on a dry weight (g) basis and recorded with the standard deviation of the mean. Data were tested for normality using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. All non-normal data were transformed. One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and two-sample t-tests were used with significance level  $\alpha$ =0.05.

#### 3.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 3.4.1 Soil Characterization

While pH, PSD, and CEC were similar between low and high Cd soil, Cd concentration and OM content were significantly higher in the high Cd soil relative to the low Cd soil (Table 3-1). Cadmium concentrations in the soil ranged from <1.0 to 21.4  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd with a mean of 6.1±4.8  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd. This Cd heterogeneity is likely due to the uneven distribution of compost throughout the site, with areas that received more compost having a higher Cd concentrations also have higher OM contents. The OM contents of the PGC soils are considerably higher than average global soil OM content (<5%; Sparks, 2003; Schnitzer, 1991), and this likely contributed to the high CEC of the PGC soils (Asadi *et al.*, 2009).

	Particle size distribution (%)		рН	CEC	OM	Cd
	fine (<0.5 mm)	coarse (0.5-4.7 mm)		cmol·kg <sup>-1</sup>	(%)	$\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$
Control Soil	50.0±4.5 <sup>a</sup>	45.8±1.3 <sup>a</sup>	5.4	150.4	87.7±1.4 <sup>c</sup>	<1.0
Low Cd Soil	59.6±1.4 <sup>b</sup>	39.4±1.1 <sup>b</sup>	7.6	38.1	13.9±1.3 <sup>a</sup>	5.1±0.3 <sup>a</sup>
High Cd Soil	56.0±4.3 <sup>ab</sup>	43.3±4.3 <sup>ab</sup>	7.7	46.2	24.5±1.9 <sup>b</sup>	16.6±1.2 <sup>b</sup>

**Table 3-1.** Soil characterization results for the control soil (potting soil) and low and high Cd soils collected from the PGC for use in the greenhouse experiment. Significant differences among treatments are indicated by different letters. All parameters were measured in triplicate except for pH and CEC.

#### 3.4.2 Cadmium Fractionation in Soil

Cadmium in the low and high Cd soils was separated into six operationally defined fractions, with Cd bioavailability decreasing with each successive fraction (Xian, 1989). The Cd concentrations in each fraction are reported as a percentage of the total concentrations (Figure 3-2). Cadmium fractionation was not completed in triplicate for each soil due to time and cost limitations, but soils were thoroughly homogenized prior to sequential extraction analysis.

The proportion of Cd in the OM- and residual-bound fractions of the high Cd soil was twice that of the low Cd soil, while the proportion of Cd in the exchangeable and carbonate-bound fractions of the high Cd soil were half that of the low Cd soil. This indicates higher Cd bioavailability in the low Cd soil compared to the high Cd soil. There was little difference in the proportion of Cd bound to Fe/Mn oxides between the low and high Cd soil, and the Cd concentration in the water-soluble fraction was below the detection limit of the ICP-OES.



**Figure 3-2.** Fractionation of Cd in the low and high [Cd] soil into six operationally defined fractions. The Cd concentration in the F1 fraction was below the ICP-OES reporting limit of 0.025 mg/L.

#### 3.4.3 Plant Biomass

Plants growing in all treatments in both the greenhouse and field studies did not display signs of reduced biomass, chlorosis, necrosis, leaf-rolls, or any other physical symptoms of Cd toxicity. Contrary to many published studies, three of the four plant species in the greenhouse experiment had a higher biomass in the high Cd soil relative to the low Cd soil (Mishra *et al.*, 2006; Ghosh and Singh, 2005; Shukla *et al.*, 2003). As the high Cd soil treatment also has a higher OM content, there were likely more nutrients and generally better growing conditions in the high compared to the low Cd soil.

In the greenhouse study, *P. compressa* shoot weight was significantly higher in the high Cd  $(12.0\pm0.1 \text{ g})$  compared to the low Cd  $(5.4\pm1.9 \text{ g})$  and control  $(3.5\pm0.3 \text{ g})$  treatments (p<0.05). *P. compressa* roots were too tangled to determine representative root weights for each treatment. *Brassica juncea* shoot weight was significantly higher in the control  $(7.9\pm2.7 \text{ g})$  compared to the low Cd treatment  $(1.4\pm0.3 \text{ g}; p<0.05)$ , but not the high Cd  $(3.8\pm1.3 \text{ g})$  treatment. There were no significant differences in *B. juncea* root weights among treatments (p>0.05). *Helianthus annuus* shoot weight was significantly higher in the control treatment  $(13.2\pm4.0 \text{ g})$  compared to the low Cd treatment  $(4.6\pm0.6 \text{ g}; p<0.05)$ , but not the high Cd treatment  $(7.6\pm2.5 \text{ g}; p<0.05)$ . *Helianthus annuus* root weights were significantly higher in the control  $(2.2\pm0.3 \text{ g})$  compared to the low  $(0.5\pm0.0 \text{ g})$  and high Cd  $(0.9\pm0.2 \text{ g})$  treatments (p>0.05). There were no significant differences in mean *C. album* shoot or root weights among treatments (p>0.05).

There were no significant differences in *B. juncea* shoot or root weights between treatments in the *in-situ* field study (p>0.05).

#### 3.4.4 Plant Cadmium Uptake

#### 3.4.4.1 Greenhouse Study

All plant species had low uptake of Cd into their roots (Figure 3-3), as indicated by a bioaccumulation factor (BAF; the ratio of the Cd concentration of the plant to that of the soil) of  $\leq 0.5$  for all species except for *P. compressa* in the low Cd soil (BAF 1.0±0.1). In the high Cd treatment, the root BAF for *P. compressa* was low (BAF 0.5±0.1), but significantly greater than those of *C. album*, *H. annuus*, and *B. juncea* (p<0.05).

The only plant to accumulate Cd in its shoots was *B. juncea*, and there was no significant difference in its mean shoot BAFs (both <0.5) between treatments (p>0.05).



**Figure 3-3.** Mean Cd concentrations in plant root and shoot tissue for each treatment in contaminated soil. Soil concentrations for the Low Cd treatment and the High Cd treatment were  $5.0\pm0.3$  and  $16.5\pm1.2 \ \mu g \cdot g^{-1}$  Cd, as indicated by the dashed lines. The Cd concentrations in the control plants were all <1.0  $\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$  Cd and were not included in this figure. A one-way ANOVA was used to compare plant root Cd concentrations among species within the low treatment and the high treatment. Significant differences among species in the low Cd treatment are indicated by the lower-case letters, and significant differences among species in the high Cd treatment are indicated by the upper-case letters.

#### 3.4.4.2 In-situ Field Study

*Brassica juncea* had low Cd uptake in both low and high Cd treatments (Figure 3-4), as indicated by mean root and shoot BAFs of <0.2 for both. There was no significant difference in *B. juncea* root BAFs between treatments (p > 0.05), but the mean shoot BAF was significantly higher in the low Cd (BAF 0.19±0.04) than in the high Cd treatment (BAF 0.10±0.03; p < 0.05).

There was no significant difference in *B. juncea* Cd uptake between treatments at the PGC for either roots or shoots (p > 0.05), though shoots accumulated significantly more Cd than roots in both the low and high Cd treatments (p < 0.05) (Figure 3-4).



**Figure 3-4.** Mean Cd concentrations in root and shoot tissue for *B. juncea* growing in low and high Cd soil at the Peterborough Gun Club. Soil concentrations for the low and high Cd soils were  $8.9\pm2.0$  and  $19.3\pm1.9 \ \mu g \cdot g^{-1}$  Cd, respectively, as indicated by the dashed lines. A one-way ANOVA was used to compare plant Cd concentrations among treatments. Differing letters indicate significant differences.

Plant Cd uptake was low for all species in both the greenhouse and field experiments, with no plant having a BAF>1.0. These results are particularly surprising for *B. juncea*, a known Cd phytoextractor that usually achieves a BAF between 3-52 (Park *et al.*, 2011b; Lai *et al.*, 2008; Ishikawa *et al.*, 2006; Quartacci *et al.*, 2005; Ghosh and Singh, 2005; Su and Wong, 2004; Kumar *et al.*, 1995). Low Cd uptake by *B. juncea* indicates that there are factors limiting Cd bioavailability, and this is likely related to the fractionation of Cd in the PGC soil. The bulk of the Cd in the PGC soil is retained by the residual, OM, and Fe/Mn oxide fractions, and is not available for plant uptake (Figure 3-2).

The PGC soil has a high OM content relative to the global soils (Sparks, 2003) due to amendment with MSW/SS compost. Composted MSW/SS is composed primarily of stable, solid state OM that is resistant to microbial degradation (García-Gil *et al.*, 2000) and that can sorb Cd via inner-sphere complexation, wherein Cd is specifically sorbed to negatively-charged surface functional groups by covalent bonding (Brady and Weil, 2013). The formation of strong metal-organic complexes limits the release of metals into the soil solution and reduces their bioavailability (Smith, 2009).

Inorganic fractions of MSW/SS amendments (such as carbonates and Fe/Mn oxides) are also important in sorbing Cd and influencing its bioavailability (Achiba *et al.*, 2009; Zinati *et al.*, 2004; Li *et al.*, 2001; Illera *et al.*, 2000; Li *et al.*, 2000). In this experiment, 31.9% and 17.7% of Cd was sorbed to carbonates in the low and high Cd soil, respectively, and 49.1% and 52.0% of Cd was sorbed to Fe/Mn oxides in the low and high Cd soil, respectively. The presence of Fe/Mn oxides in MSW/SS amendments increases the ability of the amended soil to specifically adsorb Cd and limit its bioavailability (Chaney *et* 

*al.*, 2000). As the Fe/Mn oxide fraction retains the greatest proportion of Cd in both the low and high Cd soils, it likely plays an important role in limiting plant uptake of Cd in the PGC soil.

The results of this study agree with those reporting low mobility of Cd in soils amended with composted MSW/SS (Farrell *et al.*, 2010; Hanc *et al.*, 2009; Castaldi *et al.*, 2006). The high CEC and pH of the PGC soil is characteristic of composted MSW/SS (Pengcheng *et al.*, 2008; He *et al.*, 1995; Shiralipour *et al.*, 1992), and they confer on it a large sorptive capacity for metals such as Cd. The PGC soil's high pH buffering capacity is also characteristic of composted MSW/SS (García-Gil *et al.*, 2004), and it can moderate fluctuations in soil pH that might otherwise cause increased bioavailability of Cd from the exchangeable and carbonate-bound fractions (Wu *et al.*, 2004; Horckmans *et al.*, 2007). Soils that have these properties when amended with MSW/SS are those most likely to limit Cd solubility and plant uptake (McBride, 2003a). This study clearly indicates that phytoextraction is not a feasible method of remediating the PGC soil. However, low plant uptake of Cd limits Cd loading to the plant-based food chain, and may reduce animal exposure to Cd with positive implications for ecological risk. Further study is required to quantify the ecological risk associated with Cd from soils amended with MSW and SS compost.

# 4. ECOLOGICAL RISK ASSOCIATED WITH PHYTOEXTRACTION OF SOIL CONTAMINANTS

## Michele A. Parisien<sup>a</sup>, Allison Rutter<sup>b</sup>, Brandon M. Smith<sup>c</sup>, and Barbara A. Zeeb<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, Royal Military College of Canada, Kingston, ON, Canada K7K 7B4
Fax.: 613-542-9489
Tel.: 613-541-6000 x6713 (B.A.Z) 613-214-6799 (M.A.P.)
Email: micheleparisien@rmc.ca (M.A.P.)
Email: zeeb-b@rmc.ca (B.A.Z.)

<sup>b</sup> School of Environmental Studies, Biosciences Complex, Queen's University, Kingston, ON, Canada K7L 3N6
Fax.: 613-533-2897
Tel.: 613-533-2642
Email: ruttera@queensu.ca

<sup>c</sup> Infrastructure and Environment Operations, WorleyParsons Canada, Calgary, AB Canada, T3B 6B7 Tel.: +1 587 952 1446 Email: <u>brandon.smith@worleyparsons.com</u>

#### 4.1 ABSTRACT

Contaminant bioavailability is an important factor influencing the applicability of phytoextraction, and the potential for risk at contaminated sites. Low contaminant bioavailability leads to ineffective phytoextraction, while high bioavailability can lead to considerable contaminant uptake by plants, increasing the exposure of these and higher order receptors to contaminants. In this study, phytoextraction feasibility and ecological risk were investigated at two contaminated sites in Ontario. The first site (Peterborough) was contaminated with Cd, and the second site (Lindsay) with PCBs. At the Peterborough site, low Cd bioavailability limited phytoextraction effectiveness. A preliminary quantitative risk assessment (PQRA) based on ecological exposure to Cd indicated no potential for risk from oral exposure (hazard quotient <1), possibly reducing the need for remediation. Phytoextraction of PCBs using *Cucurbita pepo* was highly effective at the Lindsay site, and a PQRA based on ecological exposure indicated risk (hazard quotient > 1) from PCBs to five of seven receptor species examined. These results demonstrate the relationship between contaminant bioavailability, phytoextraction, and risk, and emphasize the importance of incorporating risk assessment into the remediation process.

**KEY TERMS**: Phytoavailability, receptor exposure, polychlorinated biphenyls, cadmium, organic matter, hazard quotient
### 4.2 INTRODUCTION

Contaminants accumulate in soils from a variety of sources including waste and emissions from industry, agricultural runoff, landfill leachate, and the application of soil amendments such as sludge (SS) and municipal solid waste (MSW) composts. They can be taken up by soil organisms and enter the food chain, where they may cause adverse health effects in humans, plants, and animals. Traditional methods of soil remediation, such as chemical washing and/or excavation followed by landfilling, are expensive and disruptive to the environment. Extensive work has therefore been completed in the past 20 years to study the potential of more environmentally friendly remediation alternatives, including phytoextraction. In theory, phytoextraction may provide an excellent remediation solution for contaminants that cannot be degraded (e.g., cadmium (Cd)) or are not effectively degraded (e.g., polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs)) by soil microorganisms. However, phytoextraction success is greatly affected by contaminant bioavailability (Petruzzelli et al., 2013), which is in turn affected by contaminant speciation and soil properties including pH, organic matter (OM) content, and cation exchange capacity (CEC), (Naidu, 2008; Domínguez et al., 2008; Shuman, Dudka, and Das, 2002). If contaminants have low bioavailability, they will not be effectively accumulated and phytoextraction will not occur (Petruzzelli et al., 2013). In this case, exposure to receptor organisms through the plant pathway is limited, and risk to these receptors might not exist. Conversely, if contaminants have high bioavailability and phytoextraction is effective, higher order ecological receptors might encounter risk from ingestion of contaminated plants. Therefore, the presence or absence of risk to ecological receptors at a site should be evaluated when considering phytoextraction as a remediation method. This is accomplished using ecological risk assessment (ERA) (Sample and Suter, 1994).

Ecological risk assessment is a useful tool to guide site remediation. Management of contaminated sites in North America is moving towards a risk-based approach (US EPA, 1997; CCME, 1996), with the goal of remediation being to reduce risk to an acceptable level (Johnson *et al.*, 1993). Even when contaminant concentrations at a site are several times higher than the prescribed federal or provincial guidelines, factors such as soil properties and contaminant speciation can limit contaminant bioavailability and reduce the potential for risk at a site. In this case, invasive remediation techniques may cause more harm than good (Efroymson *et al.*, 2004) as they generally involve disturbing the established ecological community (i.e. excavation and landfill) or mobilizing contaminants that are otherwise stable in the soil (i.e. soil washing).

In this study, the ecological risk associated with food and soil ingestion at two phytoextraction sites located in Southern Ontario, Canada, is calculated with a preliminary quantitative risk assessment (PQRA) (Environment Canada (EC), 2012; CCME, 1996; US EPA, 1998) using site-specific contaminant concentrations in plants and soil invertebrates derived in earlier studies. The sites were chosen for their proximity to each other (45 km) and their differences in contaminant type and soil quality. The first site is located in Peterborough and is characterized by an organic matter (OM)-rich soil contaminated with Cd from the application of a MSW/SS compost, and the second is a brownfield site located in Lindsay that is characterized by a degraded soil contaminated with PCBs.

### 4.3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 4.3.1 Site #1: Peterborough, ON (Cd)

In 2010, a Cd-contaminated MSW/SS compost was used to improve the soil in a 0.805 ha area at a firing range located near Peterborough, Ontario, Canada. Subsequently, it was determined that the soil

Cd concentrations ranged from <1.0-21.4  $\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$ , exceeding the site condition standard of 1.2  $\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$  Cd set by the Ontario Ministry of the Environment (MOE) (MOE, 2011). The high OM content, high cation exchange capacity (CEC), and neutral pH of the soil indicated that the soil was in good condition (Table 4-1; Parisien *et al.*, Chapter 3 – this thesis), and the site supported a diverse community of native and naturalized plant and animal species.

	Particle size distribution (%)		рН	CEC	ОМ	Cd
	fine	coarse	(H <sub>2</sub> O)	cmol/kg	(%)	$\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$
Low [Cd] Soil	59.6±1.4	39.4±1.1	7.6	38.1	13.9±1.3	5.1±0.3
High [Cd] Soil	56.0±4.3	43.3±4.3	7.7	46.2	24.5±1.9*	16.6±1.2*

**Table 4-1.** Properties of soil with low and high Cd concentrations from the Peterborough Site (Parisien *et al.*, Chapter 3 – this thesis). Asterisks indicate significant differences between soils.

A Cd phytoextraction feasibility study was completed in 2014 by Parisien *et al.* (Chapter 3 – this thesis). Briefly, one native (*Chenopodium album*) and three naturalized (*Brassica juncea, Helianthus annuus*, and *Poa compressa*) plant species were grown in triplicate in a control soil (potting soil; <1.0  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd; n=12), soil with low (5.0±0.3  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd; n=12) and high Cd concentrations (16.5±1.2  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd; n=12), both collected form the Peterborough site. The bioaccumulation factor (BAF; the ratio of the contaminant concentration in the plant to the contaminant concentration in the soil) was <1 for all species including *B. juncea*, a plant that usually has a BAF between 3-52 (Park *et al.*, 2011b; Lai *et al.*, 2008; Ishikawa *et al.*, 2006; Quartacci *et al.*, 2005; Ghosh and Singh, 2005; Su and Wong, 2004; Kumar *et al.*, 1995). Sequential extraction analysis indicated that Cd was bound primarily by soil fractions with relatively low bioavailability (Fe/Mn oxides, OM, and residual fractions). From this data it was determined that phytoextraction was not appropriate for this site (Parisien *et al.*, Chapter 3 – this thesis).

An earthworm bioavailability experiment was conducted to determine the exposure of higher order ecological receptors to Cd from earthworm ingestion. Earthworms (*Eisenia fetida*) purchased from the 'The Worm Factory' (Westport, ON) were added to 1.32 L pots in triplicate at a density of 20 worms/750 g soil. Soils used in this experiment were the same as those used in the phytoextraction feasibility study (Parisien *et al.*, Chapter 3 – this thesis), and included the same control, low Cd, and high Cd treatments described above. Soil moisture was maintained at 30% and worms were harvested after 50 days.

Analytical Procedures: Earthworms were washed with double de-ionized (DDI) water, patted dry, and depurated at 4°C for 72 h prior to being dried in a vented oven at 25°C for 24 h. Earthworm samples were chopped and homogenized, and 0.5 g subsamples were added to digestion tubes with 2 mL HNO<sub>3</sub> and 6 mL HCl and digested overnight on a hot plate at 200°C. Samples were diluted to 12.5 mL with DDI water, filtered into glass ICP tubes using Whatman® No. 40 filter paper, and analyzed by inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectroscopy (ICP-OES).

*Quality Assurance and Quality Control (QA/QC)*: One blank, one certified reference material, and two analytical duplicate samples were included for every 14 samples analyzed. The certified reference material (Tort-2; NRCC, 1994) was within the accepted range, and had a percent recovery of 83.5 (n=1). Blank samples were below the ICP-OES detection limit (<1.0  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd). The mean relative standard deviation for duplicate samples was 5.5±1.5% (n=2).

Statistical Analysis: Statistical analyses were performed using S+ version 8.2 (Tibco Software Inc., USA). Earthworm Cd concentrations are reported on a dry weight (g) basis and recorded with the standard deviation of the mean. Data were found to be non-normal using the Kolmogrov-Smirnov test, and were therefore transformed. A one way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used with significance level  $\alpha$ =0.05.

#### 4.3.2 Site #2: Lindsay, ON (PCBs)

The second study site was a former industrial site in Lindsay, ON that had soil contaminated with PCB Aroclor-1248 (Low *et al.*, 2010). The PCB concentrations at the site ranged from <2.1 to 22.5  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> PCB (Low *et al.*, 2010). The soil was predominantly clay with 4.3% total organic carbon (Low *et al.*, 2011). Several field trials were completed at the site to study PCB phytoextraction with pumpkins and native colonizers (Ficko *et al.*, 2011; Greenwood *et al.*, 2011; Low *et al.*, 2011; Ficko *et al.*, 2010; Low *et al.*, 2010).

Ecological risk assessment inputs for the Lindsay site were generated by Smith (2012). Briefly,

*Cucurbita pepo*. ssp *pepo* var. Howden was planted in triplicate in PCB-contaminated soil ( $4.8\pm1.6 \ \mu g \cdot g^{-1}$ ; n=24) from the site with earthworms (*E. fetida*), fertilizer, and perlite. *C. pepo* total plant BAFs for PCBs were >15. The results of Smith (2012) corroborated the results of previous research demonstrating the effectiveness of using phytoextraction with *C. pepo* to remediate PCB-contaminated soil at this site (Ficko *et al.*, 2011; Greenwood *et al.*, 2011; Low *et al.*, 2011; Low *et al.*, 2010).

### 4.3.3 Ecological Risk Assessment

#### 4.3.3.1 Receptor Organisms

Risk was calculated for the same seven receptor species at both sites as they are <50 km apart. The receptors included: two herbivorous mammals (eastern cottontail and meadow vole); two omnivorous mammals (raccoon and deer mouse); one invertivorous mammal (short-tailed shrew); one omnivorous bird (American Robin); and one invertivorous bird (American woodcock) (Table 4-2). Species were selected based on taxonomic guild, trophic level, life history traits, and relevance to the Peterborough/Lindsay region.

	Common Name	Species Name	
Herbivorous Mammal	Eastern Cottontail	Sylvilagus floridanus	
	Meadow Vole	Microtus pennsylvanicus	
Omnivorous Mammal	Raccoon	Procyon lotor	
	Deer Mouse	Peromyscus maniculatus	
Invertivorous Mammal	Short-Tailed Shrew	Blarina brevicauda	
Omnivorous Bird	American Robin	Turdus migratorius	
Invertivorous Bird	American Woodcock	Scolopax minor	

**Table 4-2.** Ecological receptors included in the ecological risk assessments of the Peterborough and Lindsay sites.

#### Eastern Cottontail (Sylvilagus floridanus)

Eastern cottontails are widely distributed across North America, occupying habitat with dense, woody vegetation, and digging underground dens in abandoned fields (Chapman and Litvaitus, 2003). Their home range varies between 0.8 ha (Trent and Rongstad, 1974) and 5.98 ha (Bond *et al.*, 2001), with males having a higher home range than females (especially during the breeding season). Cottontails consume a large quantity of herbaceous plants during the growing season, and woody plants during the winter months (Chapman and Litvaitus, 2003).

#### Meadow Vole (Microtus pennsylvanicus)

Meadow voles are abundant in many types of field habitat across North America including grasssedge marshes, old-field successional meadows, and grasslands (Madison, 1980; Getz, 1961). They occupy habitats as large as 0.085 ha (Getz, 1961) and as small as 0.0002 ha during the winter months (Douglass, 1976). Meadow voles' diets consist of shoots and leaves during the spring and summer, and roots and seeds during the fall and winter (Lindroth and Batzli, 1984). In this study, meadow voles represent small mammals exposed to contaminants primarily through plant ingestion.

### Raccoon (Procyon lotor)

Raccoons are present throughout North America. They occupy a wide range of habitats, including forests and urban areas (Bartoszewicz *et al.*, 2008). Raccoons consume plants, mammals, insects, earthworms, and amphibians (Bartoszewicz *et al.*, 2008; Hamilton, 1951). Their home range varies depending on resource density, though most occupy a home range  $\geq$  39 ha (Lotze, 1979). Raccoons can be exposed to contaminants through consumption of contaminated plants and earthworms, as well as through incidental soil ingestion associated with these food items.

### Deer Mouse (Peromyscus maniculatus)

Deer mice have highly variable home range sizes (0.012-0.935 ha) in field habitats across North America (Sheppe, 1966; Whitaker, 1966). They are omnivorous mammals that consume plants and invertebrates, including earthworms (Sheppe, 1966; Whitaker, 1966), and might therefore be exposed to contaminants through ingestion of plant and animal material.

#### Short-Tailed Shrew (Blarina brevicauda)

Short-tailed shrews are insectivorous mammals that live in burrows in the soil beneath vegetative cover and occupy a home range between 0.03-0.22 ha (Platt, 1976). Their fast metabolism requires them to consume a large quantity of food per day (Platt, 1974), primarily in the form of earthworms, plants, and small vertebrates (Hamilton, 1941). Because they live in the soil and their primary food item also lives in (and consumes) soil, short-tailed shrews may experience high exposure to soil contaminants.

#### American Robin (Turdus migratorius)

American robins are abundant throughout North America, and occupy relatively small home ranges (0.11-0.21 ha; Young, 1955; Howell, 1942) in suburban areas (Howell, 1942). They are frugivores during the fall and winter, and switch to an omnivorous diet composed mostly of invertebrates for the spring and summer (Wheelwright, 1986). As earthworms comprise a portion of their spring and summer diet (Howell, 1942), robins may be exposed to contaminants due to earthworm accumulation of contaminants. Earthworm consumption may also increase contaminant exposure due to incidental ingestion of soil on the surface of the earthworm body, and as foraging for them requires robins to probe the earth with their beaks.

#### American Woodcock (Scolopax minor)

American woodcocks are ground-nesting birds that occupy large home ranges (3.1-73.6 ha; Hudgins *et al.* 1985) in forest and field habitats with sufficient soil moisture to support abundant earthworm populations, as these invertebrates make up a large fraction of their diet (Dessecker and McAuley, 2001). Because woodcocks probe the soil for food items (Rabe, Prince, and Beaver, 1983) and primarily consume invertebrates that live in and eat soil, they are more exposed to contaminants than birds with other dietary and foraging characteristics.

### 4.3.3.2 Exposure Pathway Investigation

Air exposure was not considered to be a relevant exposure pathway at either site, as Cd is nonvolatile and air measurements detected no PCBs. Water was also not considered to be a relevant exposure pathway, as there was no water source at either site. Furthermore, Cd had low water solubility at the Peterborough site due to sorption to low bioavailability soil fractions, and its downward movement through the soil profile is further limited by a clay layer beneath the contaminated top soil (Parisien *et al.*, Chapter 3 – this thesis). As PCBs exhibit low water solubility due to their hydrophobicity, the potential for off-site migration and mobilization of contaminants to ground water are low at both sites. Contaminant exposure to ecological receptors from ingestion of food items was assessed using concentrations of Cd and PCBs in plants and earthworms.

### Plant Bioavailability

The Cd and PCB concentrations used to represent exposure from plant ingestion were developed by taking the mean plant Cd and PCB concentrations from the treatments with the highest plant uptake in the phytoextraction feasibility studies, as they represent the most conservative contaminant concentrations. These concentrations were converted to wet weight (ww) using the conversion factor 0.15 (assumes a moisture content of 85%) (US EPA, 1993) to yield plant concentrations of 0.53  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> for Cd and 9.75  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> for PCBs.

#### Earthworm Bioavailability

*Cd-Contaminated Soil*: The earthworm Cd concentration used in this risk assessment was established by taking the average Cd concentrations of earthworms harvested from the low and high Cd treatments of the earthworm bioavailability experiment as there was no significant difference between them. This yielded an earthworm Cd concentration of 39.5  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> (dry weight (dw)), which was converted to ww using the conversion factor for earthworms of 0.16 (assumes a moisture content of 84%) (US EPA, 1993) to yield 6.32  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd (ww).

*PCB-Contaminated Soil*: The earthworm PCB concentration used in this risk assessment is the mean concentration (110  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> PCBs (dw)) from the PCB phytoextraction study (Smith, 2012). This concentration was converted to ww using the conversion factor for earthworms of 0.16 (assumes a moisture content of 84%) (US EPA, 1993) to yield 17.6  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> PCBs (ww).

#### 4.3.3.3 Risk Calculations

A preliminary quantitative risk assessment was conducted for both sites using the quotient method (EC, 2012; CCME, 1996; US EPA, 1998). Each receptor's estimated daily intake (EDI) of Cd and PCBs was calculated using the most conservative estimates from the literature in the equation below from Sample and Suter (1994).

$$Estimated \ Daily \ Intake = \frac{\left[\sum (C_i \times F_i \times FIR_i) + (C_s \times SIR)\right] \times AUF \times BA \times EF}{BW}$$

 $C_i$  = Contaminant concentration of food item (i) ( $\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$  ww)  $F_i$  = Fraction of the diet composed of food item (i) (unitless)  $FIR_i$  = Food Ingestion Rate for food item (i) (kg·day<sup>-1</sup> ww)  $C_s$  = Soil contaminant concentration ( $\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$  dw) SIR = Soil ingestion rate (kg·day<sup>-1</sup> dw) AUF = Area use factor (unitless) BA = Bioavailability (1) EF = Exposure Frequency (weeks·year<sup>-1</sup>) BW = Bodyweight (kg ww)

All exposure factors used in the EDI equation are shown in Table 4-3. The same plant and earthworm contaminant concentrations were used for all receptor species, while the remaining exposure factors were receptor-specific.

**Table 4-3.** Exposure factors used to determine the receptor-specific estimated daily intakes of Cd and PCBs at the Peterborough and Lindsay sites, respectively.

				Receptor			
Exposure Factors (EFs)	Eastern Cottontail Rabbit	Meadow Vole	Raccoon	Deer Mouse	Short- Tailed Shrew	American Robin	American Wood- cock
EFs specific							
to Cd							
$C_i (\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$							
Plant	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53	0.53
Worm	n/a	n/a	6.32	6.32	6.32	6.32	6.32
$C_s (\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$	21.4	21.4	21.4	21.4	21.4	21.4	21.4
EFs specific							
to PCBs							
$C_i (\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$							
Plant	9.75	9.75	9.75	9.75	9.75	9.75	9.75
Worm	n/a	n/a	n/a	17.6	17.6	17.6	17.6
$C_s (\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$	4.8	4.8	4.8	4.8	4.8	4.8	4.8
<b>Receptor-</b>							
Specific EFs							
$F_i(\%)$							
Plant	$1.00^{d}$	$1.00^{e}$	$0.587^{e}$	$0.640^{k}$	0.171 <sup>e</sup>	0.298 <sup>e</sup>	0.105 <sup>e</sup>
Worm	n/a	n/a	$7.20E-02^{e}$	$1.70E-02^{e}$	$0.418^{e}$	$0.150^{\rm e}$	$0.678^{e}$
FIR (kg·day <sup>-1</sup> )	$0.272^{\circ}$	5.26E-03 <sup>g</sup>	0.961 <sup>c</sup>	$1.01E-02^{j}$	7.95E-03 <sup>e</sup>	$0.117^{1}$	$0.130^{\rm e}$
SIR (kg·day <sup>-1</sup> )	$2.57E-03^{d}$	$1.89E-05^{h}$	8.99E-03 <sup>h</sup>	1.99E-05 <sup>h</sup>	$2.21E-05^{h}$	8.36E-04 <sup>h</sup>	1.33E-03 <sup>h</sup>
AUF <sup>a</sup>	$1.00^{\rm e}$	$1.00^{\rm e}$	$2.10E-02^{e}$	$1.00^{\rm e}$	$1.00^{\rm e}$	$1.00^{\rm e}$	$0.260^{\rm e}$
$BA^b$	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00
BW (kg)	$1.15^{\mathrm{f}}$	$1.60E-02^{i}$	3.67 <sup>e</sup>	1.30E-02 <sup>e</sup>	$1.60E-02^{e}$	7.70E-02 <sup>e</sup>	0.134 <sup>e</sup>
EF	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	1.00	$0.750^{e, m}$	0.673 <sup>e, n</sup>

<sup>a</sup> If size (ha) of HR < site, AUF=1; if HR > site, AUF = site/HR

<sup>b</sup>100% contaminant bioaccessibility is assumed for all receptors

<sup>c</sup> Kroner and Cozzie (1999)

<sup>d</sup> Extrapolated from Arthur and Gates (1988)

<sup>e</sup> US EPA (1993)

<sup>f</sup> Rongstad (1966)

<sup>g</sup> Extrapolated from Nagy (1987)

```
<sup>h</sup> Beyer et al. (1984)
<sup>i</sup> Merritt (1986); Barrett and Stueck (1976)
<sup>j</sup> Millar (1981)
<sup>k</sup> Jameson (1952)
<sup>1</sup> Calculated from Scorupa and Hothem (1985)
<sup>m</sup> Speirs (1953)
<sup>n</sup> Sepik et al. (1993)
```

The receptor's EDI was divided by its toxicity reference value (TRV) to yield the hazard quotient (HQ). The TRVs used in this PQRA are the contaminant concentrations in a medium at which a receptor demonstrates no adverse effects (NOAEL; No Observed Adverse Effects Level) and were derived from laboratory-based NOAELs by applying allometric scaling (as described in Sample *et al.*, 1996).

### 4.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 4.4.1 Risk Characterization

#### 4.4.1.1 Site # 1: Peterborough

Preliminary quantitative risk assessments assume that if the HQ < 1, there is no potential for risk to that receptor group, and if HQ > 1, there is potential for risk (CCME, 2006). Hazard quotient calculations indicate that there is no risk from Cd at the Peterborough site to any of the receptors involved in this PQRA (Table 4-4), despite soil Cd concentrations more than five times higher than the Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME)'s soil quality guideline (SQG<sub>E</sub>) for the protection of environmental health (SQG<sub>E</sub> =  $3.8 \text{ mg}\cdot\text{kg}^{-1}$ ) (CCME, 1999).

Risk to herbivores was limited by low Cd bioavailability to plants. This is supported by risk calculations that were made for a hypothetical case wherein the plant Cd concentration was equal to a BAF=1.00 (5.35  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd). In this case, the HQ surpasses 1.00 for the American robin, the eastern cottontail, and the deer mouse, indicating risk to these species due to increased Cd exposure from plant ingestion.

The plant bioavailability of Cd exhibited by this compost-based soil is low (Chen and Cutright, 2001; Gupta and Sinha, 2007). As OM can sorb Cd by cation exchange and reduce the water soluble fraction of Cd in the soil (the portion available for plant uptake; Shuman, Dudka, and Das, 2002), the high OM content of the soil is likely the factor limiting Cd bioavailability at this site. As this PQRA indicates no current potential for risk at the site, a leave-in-place strategy could be applied, as it has minimal financial and environmental costs. Although studies have demonstrated that the concentration of water soluble Cd in MSW/SS compost-amended soil can remain stable for several years (Brown *et al.*, 1998; Hyun *et al.*, 1998), OM breaks down over time and plant Cd bioavailability may increase in the future as it desorbs from degrading OM (McBride, 2003b). Therefore, a long-term monitoring program should be implemented at the site to monitor future ecological risk.

**Table 4-4.** Receptor-specific estimated daily intakes and mammalian and avian toxicity reference values for Cd and PCBs, as well as the hazard quotient for each receptor at the Peterborough and Lindsay sites. The EDIs were calculated using the exposure factors in Table 3, and the TRVs for Cd and PCBs were extrapolated from laboratory tests. The HQ was obtained by dividing the EDI by the TRV, and bolded numbers indicate potential ecological risk.

	Receptor						
	Eastern	Meadow Vole	Raccoon	Deer Mouse	Short- Tailed	American Robin	American Wood-
	Rabbit	Voie		Wiouse	Shrew	Room	cock
Peterborough, ON							
Cadmium							
EDI	0.174	7.10E-05	5.32E-03	0.381	1.39	1.44	0.621
TRV	0.716 <sup>a</sup>	$2.09^{a}$	0.536 <sup>a</sup>	$2.20^{a}$	2.09 <sup>a</sup>	1.45 <sup>b</sup>	1.45 <sup>b</sup>
HQ	0.243	3.40E-05	9.93E-03	0.173	0.664	0.990	0.428
Lindsay, ON							
PCBs							
EDI	2.32	2.91E-04	3.87E-02	5.09	4.49	6.36	1.75
TRV	0.125 <sup>c</sup>	0.364 <sup>c</sup>	$0.094^{\circ}$	$0.384^{\circ}$	0.364 <sup>c</sup>	$0.180^{d}$	$0.180^{d}$
HQ	18.5	8.00E-04	0.412	13.2	12.3	35.3	9.73

<sup>a</sup> Sutou et al. (1980), as cited in Sample et al. (1996)

<sup>b</sup> White and Finley (1978), as cited in Sample *et al.* (1996)

<sup>c</sup> Aulerich and Ringer (1977), as cited in Sample *et al.* (1996)

<sup>d</sup> Dahlgren *et al.* (1972), as cited in Sample *et al.* (1996)

### 4.4.1.2 Site # 2: Lindsay

In contrast, at the Lindsay site the American robin, American woodcock, short tailed shrew, eastern cottontail, and deer mouse are potentially at risk, while the meadow vole and raccoon are not (Table 4-4). The robin has the highest potential for risk, followed by the cottontail, deer mouse, short-tailed shrew, and American woodcock. The robin, woodcock and shrew have the highest earthworm intake, and this likely contributed to their high HQs as earthworms accumulated a high PCB burden. The deer mouse has a high food ingestion rate relative to the other small mammalian receptors, and therefore has high exposure to PCBs through food ingestion. The eastern cottontail consumes a large quantity of plant material and has less resistance to contaminant toxicity due to its low metabolic rate relative to smaller mammals (Sample *et al.*, 1996), and these factors might have contributed to its high HQ.

As there is potential for risk from PCBs to five of seven tested receptor groups at this site, precautionary measures must be taken to limit exposure of these receptors. This can be accomplished by netting or fencing, though it is difficult to limit the presence of small mammals such as shrews, which have small home ranges and might spend most of their time in a phytoextraction plot (Angle and Linacre, 2005). Identifying potential risks early in the remediation process can aid in determining the suitability of phytoextraction to remediate a site. While phytoextraction may pose temporary risk to ecological receptors, it may still be more acceptable than more traditional remediation methods such as excavation and landfilling, a process that is both expensive and environmentally destructive (Angle and Linacre,

2005). With proper implementation of safety precautions, risks can be managed in order to produce a safe environment for receptors while maximizing plant extraction of contaminants.

### 4.5 CONCLUSIONS

Bioavailability of a contaminant is essential for successful phytoextraction. Low plant availability of Cd in the Peterborough soil due to sorption to low bioavailability soil fractions prevented plants from extracting and accumulating a sufficient amount of Cd for effective phytoextraction. This low Cd availability also reduced plant uptake enough to eliminate the potential for ecological risk to receptors at the site, which in turn reduces the need for remedial action.

High bioavailability of PCBs in the Lindsay soil facilitated phytoextraction of this contaminant. However, high plant uptake of PCBs also increased receptor exposure to this contaminant, resulting in the potential for risk for five of seven receptor groups evaluated. Determining what receptor groups might be at risk due to phytoextraction is an important component of the planning process, as it allows site managers to implement appropriate risk management strategies to control risk during remediation.

The two sites considered in this PQRA are at opposite ends of the spectrum, and they emphasize the relevance of risk assessment to the remediation process as well as the relationship between contaminant availability, phytoextraction, and ecological risk. This study indicates that the exceedance of generic soil guidelines is not enough to determine whether a contaminated site poses ecological risk; contaminant bioavailability should be considered before bypassing site-specific risk assessment in favor of immediate remediation.

# 5. EFFECT OF BIOCHAR ON CADMIUM FRACTIONATION WITH ORGANIC MATTER DEGRADATION IN A SOIL AMENDED WITH MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE AND SEWAGE SLUDGE COMPOST

## Michele A. Parisien<sup>a</sup>, Allison Rutter<sup>b</sup>, and Barbara A. Zeeb<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, Royal Military College of Canada, Kingston, ON, Canada K7K 7B4
Fax.: 613-542-9489
Tel.: 613-541-6000 x6713 (B.A.Z) 613-214-6799 (M.A.P.)
Email: michele.parisien@rmc.ca (M.A.P.)
Email: zeeb-b@rmc.ca (B.A.Z.)

<sup>b</sup> School of Environmental Studies, Biosciences Complex, Queen's University, Kingston, ON, Canada K7L 3N6
Fax.: 613-533-2897
Tel.: 613-533-2642
Email: ruttera@queensu.ca

### 5.1 ABSTRACT

Biochar is a stable form of organic matter (OM) that can sorb and immobilize metals such as cadmium (Cd), potentially limiting its long-term mobility and bioavailability in soil. A laboratory experiment was conducted to investigate the effect of biochar on Cd mobility as OM degrades in a soil amended with municipal solid waste (MSW) and sewage sludge (SS) compost. Soil contaminated with Cd ( $21.7 \ \mu g \cdot g^{-1}$ ) from MSW/SS compost application at a site in Peterborough, Ontario, was placed into glass jars in a control treatment (soil only; n=3) and a biochar treatment (soil amended with 4% biochar (dry weight); n=3) and maintained at 40°C for 185 days. The OM content significantly decreased (from  $30.7\pm1.5\%$  to  $27.4\pm0.6\%$ ) in the control treatment between the start and end of the experiment, but did not change significantly in the biochar treatment. Although there were no significant changes in the proportion of Cd in each soil fraction for either treatment, the trends in Cd fractionation suggest that Cd is moving from soil fractions with high bioavailability to those with low bioavailability. The length of this experiment was likely too short for significant trends to develop, and it should therefore be repeated for a longer period of time to properly characterize the changes in Cd fractionation that occur as OM degrades.

Key words: Cadmium, MSW/SS compost, biochar, organic matter, bioavailability, sequential extraction, soil ageing

### 5.2 INTRODUCTION

Municipal solid waste (MSW) and sewage sludge (SS) composts are widely applied to degraded soils to improve soil quality and plant yield (Singh and Agrawal, 2008). Though concerns have been raised regarding their high concentrations of metals such as Cd, research has demonstrated low bioavailability of metals associated with these composts (Parisien *et al.*, Chapter 3 – this thesis; Hanc *et al.*, 2009; Wen *et al.*, 2002; Gigliotti *et al.*, 1996). Composting causes metals to shift from soil fractions with relatively high bioavailability (water soluble, exchangeable, and carbonate-bound) to those with relatively low bioavailability (Fe/Mn oxide-, OM-, and residual-bound) (He *et al.*, 2009; Castaldi *et al.*, 2006; Greenway and Song, 2002).

While Cd bioavailability is initially low in soils amended with MSW/SS compost, it increases over time as OM degrades (McBride, 2003b; Chang *et al.*, 1997) or if soils become water-logged and reducing conditions cause Fe/Mn oxides to dissolve and release Cd (Brown *et al.*, 1989). Little research has focused on the long-term availability of Cd in MSW/SS compost-amended soils, and the results are mixed for studies of non-composted MSW/SS; while some find little to no change in Cd bioavailability over time (McGrath *et al.*, 2000; McGrath and Cegarra, 1992; Brown *et al.*, 1998; Hyun *et al.*, 1998), others report high uptake into plants several years after the termination of MSW/SS application (McGrath *et al.*, 2000; Sloan *et al.*, 1997).

The lack of long-term data necessitates precautionary measures or long-term monitoring at sites contaminated with Cd from the application of MSW/SS composts in order to limit possible future risk to human and ecological receptors. Because the potential for increased risk from these soils stems primarily from the degradation of OM or the dissolution of Fe/Mn oxides, one possible method of limiting the long-term mobility of Cd is to amend soil with biochar. Biochar is the carbon-rich product of biomass pyrolysis, and it is an emerging technology for the remediation of contaminated soils (Denyes *et al.*, in press; Beesley *et al.*, 2011). Biochar has a high density of negatively charged functional groups on its surface that sorb cations such as Cd (Uras *et al.*, 2012; Wu *et al.*, 2012). Amending soil with biochar shifts Cd from the water-soluble fraction of soil to the carbonate-, OM-, and Fe/Mn oxide-bound fractions (Bian *et al.*, 2014; Park *et al.*, 2011b). While several studies have demonstrated the ability of biochar to immobilize Cd in soil and reduce its uptake into plants (Bian *et al.*, 2014; Suppadit *et al.*, 2012; Zhang *et al.*, 2012; Beesley and Marmiroli, 2011; Cui *et al.*, 2011), there is a lack of research examining the effect of biochar on long-term Cd mobility and bioavailability.

This study will evaluate the potential of biochar to sorb Cd and limit its long-term mobility and bioavailability in soil contaminated with Cd from the application of a MSW/SS compost at a site in Peterborough, Ontario. The Cd in this soil has low bioavailability as it is bound primarily by Fe/Mn oxides, OM, and residual soil components (Parisien *et al.*, Chapter 3 – this thesis). The results of an ecological risk assessment have indicated that there is currently no potential for risk to receptors at this site (Parisien *et al.*, Chapter 4 – this thesis). However, because Cd solubility may increase in the future due to dissolution of Fe/Mn oxides and OM degradation, this study investigates long-term Cd mobility and bioavailability.

### 5.3 METHODS AND MATERIALS

### 5.3.1 Site Description

In 2010, a MSW/SS compost originating from a Kingston, ON company was used to restore a disturbed 0.805 ha area at the Peterborough Gun Club (PGC) in Peterborough, Ontario. Native plants

were planted in the restored area to encourage the establishment of a native ecological community (BioLogic, 2009). The MSW/SS compost was later discovered to have Cd concentrations up to 21.4  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup>, exceeding the Ontario Ministry of the Environment (MOE) site condition standard of 1.2  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd (MOE, 2011). Despite the high soil Cd concentrations, the site supported a diverse community of native and naturalized plant species.

### 5.3.2 Experimental Design

Soil was aged under accelerated conditions to promote microbial degradation of OM. Four hundred g (wet weight) of PGC soil with a Cd concentration of  $21.7\pm1.5 \ \mu g \cdot g^{-1}$  (n=3) were added to 1 L glass jars (n=3) in a control treatment (soil only) and a biochar treatment (soil amended with biochar at 4% dry weight). Biochar was obtained from Burt's Greenhouses in Odessa, Ontario, and was fully characterized in Denyes *et al.* (2014). Analyses included pH, cation exchange capacity, particle size distribution, specific surface area, organic carbon, moisture percentage, and proximate and ultimate analysis. Soils were maintained at ~60% soil moisture (Donnelly *et al.*, 1990) in an oven at 40°C with continuous oxygen flow, and mixed twice per week for 185 days. After harvesting, soils were air-dried, homogenized, sieved to <2 mm, and ground for further analysis.

### 5.3.3 Analytical Methods

Soils were measured for total Cd by measuring 0.5 g subsamples into glass DigiPrep tubes with 7 mL double de-ionized (DDI) water, 2 mL HNO<sub>3</sub>, and 6 mL HCl prior to digestion at 95°C for 330 minutes. Samples were cooled and diluted to 25 mL with DDI water, filtered into glass ICP tubes using Whatman® No. 40 filter paper, and analyzed by ICP-OES.

Cadmium was sequentially extracted from soils before and after 185 days of ageing according to the procedure of Tessier *et al.* (1997), with the addition of an extraction step for the water-soluble fraction as described in Ma and Rao (1997) (Table 5-1). This sequential extraction scheme partitions Cd into six soil fractions: 1) water-soluble; 2) exchangeable; 3) carbonate-bound; 4) Fe/Mn oxide-bound; 5) Organic matter-bound; and 6) residual. Cadmium bioavailability decreases with each successive extraction step, with the water-soluble fraction having the highest Cd bioavailability and the residual fraction having the lowest (Dudka and Chlopecka, 1990; Xian, 1989). Sequential extraction was carried out on 1 g soil samples in 50 mL polyethylene centrifuge tubes. Following each extraction, the samples were centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 5 min, and the supernatants was filtered through 0.45  $\mu$ m filters and analyzed by ICP-OES.

Fraction	Phase	Reagent	Time/Temperature
1	Water-soluble	15 mL double distilled (DDI) water	Shake 2 h at 22°C
2	Exchangeable	8 mL 1 M MgCl <sub>2</sub> (pH 7.0)	Shake 1 h at 22°C
3	Carbonate-bound	8 mL 1 M NaOAc (pH 5.0)	Shake 5 h at 22°C
4	Fe/Mn oxide- bound	20 mL 0.04 M NH <sub>2</sub> OH-HCl in 25% (v/v) HOAc (pH 2.0)	6 h at 96°C
5	Organic matter- bound	3 mL 0.02 M HNO <sub>3</sub> + 5 mL 30% H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> (pH 2.0) / 3 mL 30% H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> (pH 2.0) / 5 mL 3.2 M NH <sub>4</sub> OAc in 20% (v/v) HNO <sub>3</sub>	2 hr at 85°C / 3 hr at 85°C / shake 30 min at 22°C
6	Residual bound	6 mL HCl + 2 mL HNO <sub>3</sub> (aqua regia)	5 hr at 95°C

Table 5-1. Method used for sequential extraction of Cd from soils.

### 5.3.4 Quality Assurance and Quality Control (QA/QC)

One blank, one control, and one analytical duplicate sample were included for every 14 samples analyzed. The certified reference material (SS-2) had a mean percent recovery of  $101.0\pm19.9$  (n=3). All blanks were below the ICP-OES reporting limit for soil (<1.0 µg·g<sup>-1</sup>) and water (<0.6 µg·g<sup>-1</sup>) (n=3). The mean relative standard deviation was 5.6±2.5% (n=5) for all duplicate samples. All calibration controls were within the accepted range. Cadmium recovered from each of the six fractions was summed for each sample and compared against the total Cd concentration (as determined by *aqua regia* digestion), and the mean percent recovery was 110.6±6.1% (n=4).

#### 5.3.5 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using S+ version 8.2 (Tibco Software Inc., USA). Soil Cd concentrations are reported on a dry weight (g) basis and recorded with the standard deviation of the mean. Welch modified two-sample t-tests were used with significance level  $\alpha$ =0.05.

### 5.4 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

#### 5.4.1 Cadmium Fractionation

There was no significant difference in the proportion of Cd in each soil fraction between one and 185 days for either the control or the biochar treatment (p > 0.05) (Figure 5-1). However, there is a considerable difference in the percent change in Cd concentration that occurred within soil fractions over the course of the experiment. The proportion of Cd in the residual fraction (F6) increased by 45.7% for the control treatment, compared to a 59.8% increase in the biochar treatment. During the same time frame, the proportion of Cd in the OM fraction (F5) decreased in the control treatment by 29.8%, but

increased in the biochar treatment by 10.3%. The percent change in Cd in the Fe/Mn oxide fraction (F4) was similar between the control and the biochar treatments, with decreases of 6.5% and 8.1%, respectively. Only small changes occurred in the carbonate and exchangeable fractions, and the Cd concentrations in the water soluble fraction were negligible ( $<0.1 \text{ µg} \cdot \text{g}^{-1}$ ) for both treatments. Trends indicate decreasing Cd bioavailability in the biochar treatment relative to the control treatment, and this conforms to the expected effects of biochar amendment and incubation time. Although these trends are not significant after 185 days, they might increase to statistical significance if this experiment is conducted over a longer time period.



**Figure 5-1.** Fractionation of Cd in the Control and Biochar treatments into six operationally defined fractions between one and 185 days. The Cd concentration in the F1 fraction was below the ICP-OES detection limit of 0.6  $\mu$ g·g<sup>-1</sup> Cd. Two-sample t-tests indicated no significant differences in the percentage of Cd in each soil fraction within treatments between the start and end of the experiment.

### 5.4.2 Organic Matter Content

There was a significant decrease (from  $30.7\pm1.5\%$  to  $27.4\pm0.6\%$ ; p <0.05) in the soil OM content in the control treatment between one and 185 days. Despite this significant decrease in %OM, there was only a small (non-significant; p >0.05) decrease in the proportion of Cd held in the OM-bound fraction. These results suggest that Cd in this fraction is sorbed primarily by the most stable portion of the soil OM, though the length of this experiment was likely too short for a significant loss of OM-bound Cd to occur.

There was no significant difference in the soil OM content in the biochar treatment between one and 185 days. Biochar is OM-rich and sorbs Cd, and therefore it is likely responsible for the small increase in the proportion of Cd bound to the OM fraction that occurred during this experiment (Park *et* 

*al.*, 2011b). Biochar provides a source of stable OM that is not susceptible to microbial degradation (Kuzyakov *et al.*, 2014), and its addition to soil likely compensated for the degradation of the more labile OM. As the native soil OM decomposes and releases Cd into the soil solution, biochar is expected to resorb Cd from solution and limit its long-term mobility and bioavailability. This effect will become more pronounced with time, as sorption of Cd by biochar increases with incubation time in soil due to the slow oxidation of its surface and the resulting increase in its negative surface charge density and sorption capacity (Major *et al.*, 2010; Zimmerman, 2010).

### 5.5 CONCLUSIONS

Although the changes in the proportion of Cd bound to each soil fraction between the beginning and end of the experiment were not significant for either treatment, the trend in Cd fractionation for both treatments indicates that Cd is moving from the more bioavailable fractions to the less bioavailable fractions with time. This trend is more pronounced in the biochar treatment.

Changes in the proportion of Cd bound to OM (though not significant) reflected the loss of OM that occurred in the control treatment and the input of biochar OM that occurred in the biochar treatment. This work highlights the potential for biochar to immobilize soil contaminants over the long term by stabilizing the OM. This experiment should be conducted over a longer period of time (1+ years) to allow significant trends to develop with further OM degradation and biochar incubation.

## 6. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Cadmium is a toxic metal with no known biological function, and exposure to Cd can cause adverse health effects to humans, plants, and animals. Although Cd is naturally present at low levels in the environment, anthropogenic activity, such as the use of municipal solid waste (MSW) and sewage sludge (SS) compost, can considerably increase Cd concentrations in soils. Cadmium-contaminated soil is commonly remediated using conventional technologies such as soil washing and excavation and landfilling. As these methods can be expensive and damaging to the soil matrix, efforts are being made to develop environmentally-friendly and cost-effective alternatives.

Phytoextraction uses vascular plants to extract Cd into the roots and translocate them to the shoots, which are harvested and disposed of (Salt *et al.*, 1998; Cunningham and Ow, 1996). Several plant species have successfully extracted significant concentrations of Cd into their aboveground tissue, and considerable research has been done over the past 20 years to identify new Cd phytoextractors and enhance plant uptake though the use of various soil amendments. Studies have demonstrated that plant uptake, and therefore phytoextraction success, depends on environmental factors such as soil properties and Cd speciation.

In this thesis, the feasibility of using phytoextraction to remediate Cd in a MSW/SS compostbased soil was investigated at a site in Peterborough, Ontario. Greenhouse and field studies showed low plant uptake into all species evaluated, with each having a mean BAF  $\leq 1$  (Chapter 3). Sequential extraction was used to determine the fractionation of Cd in the Peterborough soil, as the partitioning of Cd among soil fractions is representative of Cd bioavailability to plants. Cadmium in the Peterborough Gun Club (PGC) soil was retained primarily by the Fe/Mn oxide, organic matter, and residual fractions, with relatively little held in the water-soluble, exchangeable, and carbonate-bound fractions. As the latter three make up the plant available Cd pool, only 38.3% and 20.3% of Cd was potentially available for plant uptake in the low and high Cd treatments, respectively. Results of greenhouse, field, and sequential extraction experiments indicated low bioavailability to plants, and hence phytoextraction was deemed an infeasible method of remediating Cd-contaminated soil at the PGC.

Although low plant uptake eliminated phytoextraction as a remediation option, it also reduced exposure of plant-eating receptors to Cd, and might therefore limit the associated health risks. The potential for risk at the PGC was calculated for seven site-specific ecological receptors using a preliminary quantitative risk assessment (Chapter 4). This risk assessment was completed using site-specific Cd data for soil, plants, and earthworms in order to accurately characterize risk. Despite soil Cd concentrations up to 18 times higher than the MOE soil guideline of  $1.2 \,\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$  Cd, no potential for risk was found for any of the seven receptors evaluated. For comparison, risk was also calculated for the same seven receptors at a PCB-contaminated site in Lindsay, ON. This site differed from the Peterborough site based on its soil quality, the contaminant of concern, and contaminant bioavailability. Previous research has shown that phytoextraction would be an effective method of remediating this site due to high plant uptake of PCBs, and an ecological risk assessment revealed that five of the seven receptors were potentially at risk of experiencing adverse health effects from PCBs. The results of these risk assessments demonstrate the importance of considering contaminant bioavailability when estimating risk, as guideline exceedance alone does not accurately predict the potential for risk to ecological receptors.

While risk assessments characterize the potential for risk under existing environmental conditions, over time, changing environmental conditions can cause fluctuations in soil chemistry, leading to increased contaminant bioavailability in soil and increased potential for risk. This is an important consideration when characterizing ecological risk from Cd in soils amended with MSW/SS compost, as the degradation of organic matter and dissolution of Fe/Mn oxides may result in an increase in the proportion of Cd in high-bioavailability soil fractions in the future. Biochar is a carbon-rich amendment

that may limit long-term Cd bioavailability, as it has a high sorption capacity for Cd that increases over time as it is oxidized in soil. Therefore, a study was completed to investigate the changes in Cd fractionation in ageing MSW/SS compost-amended soil both with and without the addition of biochar (Chapter 6). While the soil organic matter content decreased significantly in the un-amended control after 185 days of ageing, there was no significant change in the biochar treatment. Sequential extraction of Cd from aged soils demonstrated trends of decreasing Cd bioavailability in the biochar treatment relative to the control, suggesting that biochar has the potential to limit Cd bioavailability in the PGC soil over the long-term, thus minimizing risk to ecological receptors.

This thesis is the first study investigating the relationship between the bioavailability, phytoextraction, and ecological risk associated with Cd in MSW/SS compost-amended soil. Although Cd bioavailability is low in these soils, future work should focus on Cd bioavailability in those amended with fresh, uncomposted MSW/SS, as its high content of dissolved organic matter improves Cd solubility and may therefore increase phytoextraction feasibility. Future work should also further investigate the effect of biochar on Cd bioavailability in compost-based soils over time, as this thesis demonstrates that it has the potential to be an effective long-term remediation technology for soils amended with MSW/SS compost.

# 7. LIST OF REFERENCES

Abe T, Fukami M, Ogasawara M. 2008. Cadmium accumulation in the shoots and roots of 93 weed species. Soil Science & Plant Nutrition 54:566-573.

Achiba WB, Gabteni N, Lakhdar A, Laing GD, Verloo M, Jedidi N, Gallali T. 2009. Effects of 5-year application of municipal solid waste compost on the distribution and mobility of heavy metals in a Tunisian calcareous soil. Agric Ecosyst Environ 130:156-163.

Adriano D. 2001. Cadmium. In: *Trace elements in terrestrial environments: biogeochemistry, bioavailability, and risks of metals.* 2nd edition. Springer-Verlag New York-Berlin-Heidelberg, 264-314.

Aggelides SM, Londra PA. 2000. Effects of compost produced from town wastes and sewage sludge on the physical properties of a loamy and a clay soil. Bioresour Technol 71:253-259.

Alloway BJ, Jackson AP. 1991. The behaviour of heavy metals in sewage sludge-amended soils. Sci Total Environ 100:151-176.

Alloway BJ. 2005. Bioavailability of elements in soil. In: *Essentials of Medical Geology - Impacts of the Natural Environment on Public Health* (Selinus O, Ed.), Elsevier Academic Press.

Alloway BJ. 2013. Bioavailability of elements in soil. In *Essentials of medical geology* (pp. 351-373). Springer Netherlands.

Almås AR, McBride MB, Singh BR. 2000. Solubility and lability of cadmium and zinc in two soils treated with organic matter. Soil Sci 165:250-259.

Angle JS, Linacre NA. 2005. Metal phytoextraction - A survey of potential risks. Int J Phytoremediation 7:241-254.

Antoniadis V, Alloway BJ. 2002. The role of dissolved organic carbon in the mobility of Cd, Ni and Zn in sewage sludge-amended soils. Environmental Pollution 117:515-521.

Appel C, Ma LQ, Rhue RD, Reve W. 2008. Sequential sorption of lead and cadmium in three tropical soils. Environmental Pollution 155:132-140.

Arthur III WJ, Gates RJ. 1988. Trace element intake via soil ingestion in pronghorns and in black-tailed jackrabbits. J Range Manage 162-166.

Asadi A, Huat BB, Hanafi MM, Mohamed TA, Shariatmadari N. 2009. Role of organic matter on electroosmotic properties and ionic modification of organic soils. Geosciences Journal 13:175-181.

Ashworth D, Alloway B. 2008. Influence of dissolved organic matter on the solubility of heavy metals in sewage-sludge-amended soils. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 39:538-550.

Aulerich RJ, Ringer RK. 1977. Current status of PCB toxicity, including reproduction in mink. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 6:279.

Azargohar R, Nanda S, Kozinski JA, Dalai AK, Sutarto R. 2014. Effects of temperature on the physicochemical characteristics of fast pyrolysis bio-chars derived from Canadian waste biomass. Fuel 125:90-100.

Bache BW. 1976. Measurement of Cation-Exchange Capacity of Soils. J Sci Food Agric 27:273-280.

Bagchi D, Bagchi M, Hassoun EA, Stohs SJ. 1996. Cadmium-induced excretion of urinary lipid metabolites, DNA damage, glutathione depletion, and hepatic lipid peroxidation in Sprague-Dawley rats. Biol Trace Elem Res 52:143-154.

Baker AJM, McGrath SP, Reeves RD, Smith JAC. 2000. Metal hyperaccumulator plants: A review of the ecology and physiology of a biochemical resources for phytoremediation of metal-polluted soils. In: *hytoremediation of Contaminated Soil and Water*, pp. 85-107 (Terry N, Banuelos G, Eds.). Boca Raton, Florida, CRC Press LLC.

Baker DE, Amacher MC, Leach RM. 1979. Sewage sludge as a source of cadmium in soil-plant-animal systems. Environ Health Perspect 28:45-49.

Barrett GW, Stueck KL. 1976. Brief Note Caloric Ingestion Rate and Assimilation Efficiency of the Short-Tailed Shrew, Blarina Brevicauda.

Bartoszewicz M, Okarma H, Zalewski A, Szczesna J. 2008. Ecology of the raccoon (Procyon lotor) from western Poland. Ann Zool Fenn 45:291-298.

Bataillard P, Cambier P, Picot C. 2003. Short-term transformations of lead and cadmium compounds in soil after contamination. Eur J Soil Sci 54:365-376.

Beesley L, Marmiroli M. 2011. The immobilisation and retention of soluble arsenic, cadmium and zinc by biochar. Environmental Pollution 159:474-480.

Beesley L, Moreno-Jimenez E, Gomez-Eyles JL, Harris E, Robinson B, Sizmur T. 2011. A review of biochars' potential role in the remediation, revegetation and restoration of contaminated soils. Environmental Pollution 159:3269-3282.

Bertoncini E, D'Orazio V, Senesi N, Mattiazzo M. 2008. Effects of sewage sludge amendment on the properties of two Brazilian oxisols and their humic acids. Bioresour Technol 99:4972-4979.

Beyer WN, Connor EE, Gerould S. 1994. Estimates of soil ingestion by wildlife. The Journal of Wildlife Management 375-382.

Bian R, Joseph S, Cui L, Pan G, Li L, Liu X, Zhang A, Rutlidge H, Wong S, Chia C, Marjo C, Gong B, Munroe P, Donne S. 2014. A three-year experiment confirms continuous immobilization of cadmium and lead in contaminated paddy field with biochar amendment. J Hazard Mater 272:121-128.

BioLogic. 2009. Landscape Restoration Plans (Stage 1, 2, and 3) for the Peterborough Gun Club, 608 Division Road, Douro Ward, PL 1, Conc. 8, Douro-Dummer, County of Peterobrough, Ontario.

Bond BT, Leopold BD, Burger Jr LW, Godwin KD. 2001. Movements and home range dynamics of cottontail rabbits in Mississippi. The Journal of Wildlife Management 1004-1013.

Brady NC, Weil RC. 2013. The nature and properties of soil, 14th ed., *revised*. Upper Saddle River, NJ, Prentice Hall.

Breslin VT. 1999. Retention of metals in agricultural soils after amending with MSW and MSW-biosolids compost. Water Air and Soil Pollution 109:163-178.

Bridges C, Zalups R. 2005. Molecular and ionic mimicry and the transport of toxic metals. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 204:274-308.

Brown PH, Dunemann L, Schulz R, Marschner H. 1989. Influence of Redox Potential and Plant-Species on the Uptake of Nickel and Cadmium from Soils. Zeitschrift Fur Pflanzenernahrung Und Bodenkunde 152:85-91.

Brown SL, Chaney RL, Angle JS, Ryan JA. 1998. The phytoavailability of cadmium to lettuce in long-term biosolids-amended soils. J Environ Qual 27:1071-1078.

Canadian Council Of Ministers Of The Environment (CCME). 1996. A Framework for Ecological Risk Assessment: General Guidance. The National Contaminated Sites Remediation Program. Winnipeg, Manitoba: Canadian Council Of Ministers Of The Environment.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME). 1997. A Framework for Ecological Risk Assessment: Technical Appendices. The National Contaminated Sites Remediation Program. Winnipeg, Manitoba: Canadian Council Of Ministers Of The Environment.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment. 1999. Canadian soil quality guidelines for the protection of environmental and human health: Cadmium. Canadian environmental quality guidelines. Winnipeg, Manitoba: Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME). 2012. Canada-wide approach for the management of wastewater biosolids. PN 1477.

Cantrell KB, Hunt PG, Uchimiya M, Novak JM, Ro KS. 2012. Impact of pyrolysis temperature and manure source on physicochemical characteristics of biochar. Bioresour Technol 107:419-428.

Castaldi P, Alberti G, Merella R, Melis P. 2005. Study of the organic matter evolution during municipal solid waste composting aimed at identifying suitable parameters for the evaluation of compost maturity. Waste Manage 25:209-213.

Castaldi P, Santona L, Melis P. 2006. Evolution of heavy metals mobility during municipal solid waste composting. Fresenius Environ Bull 15:1133-1140.

Chang AC, Hyun HN, Page AL. 1997. Cadmium uptake for Swiss chard grown on composted sewage sludge treated field plots: Plateau or time bomb? J Environ Qual 26:11-19.

Chaoui A, Mazhoudi S, Ghorbal MH, ElFerjani E. 1997. Cadmium and zinc induction of lipid peroxidation and effects on antioxidant enzyme activities in bean (Phaseolus vulgaris L). Plant Science 127:139-147.

Chapman JA, Litvaitis JA. 2003. Eastern cottontail: *Sylvilagus floridanus* and allies. In: *Wild mammals of North America: biology, management, and conservation* (Feldhamer GA, Thompson BC, Chapman JA, Eds.). Baltimore, Maryland: JHU Press. p. 101-125

Chefetz B, Hatcher PG, Hadar Y, Chen Y. 1996. Chemical and biological characterization of organic matter during composting of municipal solid waste. J Environ Qual 25:776-785.

Chen H, Cutright T. 2001. EDTA and HEDTA effects on Cd, Cr, and Ni uptake by Helianthus annuus. Chemosphere 45:21-28.

Cheng C, Lehmann J, Engelhard MH. 2008. Natural oxidation of black carbon in soils: Changes in molecular form and surface charge along a climosequence. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 72:1598-1610.

Cheng C, Lehmann J, Thies JE, Burton SD, Engelhard MH. 2006. Oxidation of black carbon by biotic and abiotic processes. Org Geochem 37:1477-1488.

Cheng H, Xu W, Liu J, Zhao Q, He Y, Chen G. 2007. Application of composted sewage sludge (CSS) as a soil amendment for turfgrass growth. Ecol Eng 29:96-104.

Cosio C, Vollenweider P, Keller C. 2006. Localization and effects of cadmium in leaves of a cadmiumtolerant willow (Salix viminalis L.) I. Macrolocalization and phytotoxic effects of cadmium. Environ Exp Bot 58:64-74.

Cui L, Li L, Zhang A, Pan G, Bao D, Chang A. 2011. Biochar amendment greatly reduces Cd uptake in a contaminated paddy soil: A two-year field experient. Bioresources 6:2605-2618.

Cunha KPVD, Nascimento CWAD, Pimentel RMDM, Accioly AMDA, Silva AJD. 2008. Cadmium and zinc availability, accumulation and toxicity in maize grown in a contaminated soil. Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo 32(3):1319-1328.

Cunningham S, Ow D. 1996. Promises and prospects of phytoremediation. Plant Physiol 110:715-719.

Cutright T, Gunda N, Kurt F. 2010. Simultaneous hyperaccumulation of multiple heavy metals by Helianthus annuus grown in a contaminated sandy-loam soil. Int J Phytoremediation 12:562-573.

Dahlgren RB, Linder RL, Carlson CW. 1972. Polychlorinated biphenyls: their effects on penned pheasants. Environ Health Perspect 1:89-101.

Dai J, Becquer T, Henri Rouiller J, Reversat G, Bernhard-Reversat F, Nahmani J, Lavelle P. 2004. Heavy metal accumulation by two earthworm species and its relationship to total and DTPA-extractable metals in soils. Soil Biol Biochem 36:91-98.

Dai Z, Meng J, Muhammad N, Liu X, Wang H, He Y, Brookes PC, Xu J. 2013. The potential feasibility for soil improvement, based on the properties of biochars pyrolyzed from different feedstocks. Journal of Soils and Sediments 13:989-1000.

Dean RB, Suess MJ. 1985. The Risk to Health of Chemicals in Sewage-Sludge Applied to Land. Waste Manage Res 3:251-278.

Denyes MD, Rutter A, Parisien MA, Zeeb B. *In press*. Physical, chemical and biological characterization of six biochars produced for the remediation of contaminated sites. J Vis Exp.

Dessecker D, McAuley D. 2001. Importance of early successional habitat to ruffed grouse and American woodcock. Wildl Soc Bull 29:456-465.

Dominguez MT, Maranon T, Murillo JM, Schulin R, Robinson BH. 2008. Trace element accumulation in woody plants of the Guadiamar Valley, SW Spain: A large-scale phytomanagement case study. Environmental Pollution 152:50-59.

Donnelly PK, Entry JA, Crawford DL, Cromack K. 1990. Cellulose and lignin degradation in forest soils - response to moisture, temperature, and acidity. Microb Ecol 20:289-295.

Ebbs SD, Lasat MM, Brady DJ, Cornish J, Gordon R, Kochian LV. 1997. Phytoextraction of cadmium and zinc from a contaminated soil. J Environ Qual 26:1424-1430.

Efroymson RA, Nicolette JP, Suter GW. 2004. A framework for net environmental benefit analysis for remediation or restoration of contaminated sites. Environ Manage 34:315-331.

Environment Canada (EC). 2012. FCSAP Ecological Risk Assessment Guidance. Report prepared for Environment Canada, 31 March 2012.

Environment Canada (EC). 2013. "Technical Document on Municipal Solid Waste Organics Processing", pp. 1-1 to 1-2, En14-83/2013E, Ottawa, ON: Environment Canada.

Farrell M, Perkins WT, Hobbs PJ, Griffith GW, Jones DL. 2010. Migration of heavy metals in soil as influenced by compost amendments. Environmental Pollution 158:55-64.

Fayiga AO, Ma LQ, Cao XD, Rathinasabapathi B. 2004. Effects of heavy metals on growth and arsenic accumulation in the arsenic hyperaccumulator Pteris vittata L. Environmental Pollution 132:289-296.

Ferreira Fontes MP, de Matos AT, da Costa LM, Lima Neves JC. 2000. Competitive adsorption of zinc, cadmium, copper, and lead in three highly-weathered Brazilian soils. Communications in Soil Science & Plant Analysis 31(17-18):2939-2958.

Ficko SA, Rutter A, Zeeb BA. 2010. Potential for phytoextraction of PCBs from contaminated soils using weeds. Sci Total Environ 408:3469-3476.

Ficko SA, Rutter A, Zeeb BA. 2011. Effect of pumpkin root exudates on ex situ polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) phytoextraction by pumpkin and weed species. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 18:1536-1543.

Fitz WJ, Wenzel WW. 2002. Arsenic transformations in the soil-rhizosphere-plant system: fundamentals and potential application to phytoremediation. J Biotechnol 99:259-278.

Fodor E, Szabonagy A, Erdei L. 1995. The Effects of Cadmium on the Fluidity and H+-Atpase Activity of Plasma-Membrane from Sunflower and Wheat Roots. J Plant Physiol 147:87-92.

Fontes MPF, de Matos AT, da Costa LM, Neves JCL. 2000. Competitive adsorption of zinc, cadmium, copper, and lead in three highly-weathered Brazilian soils. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 31:2939-2958.

Gao D, Zheng G, Chen T, Luo W, Gao W, Zhang Y, Li Y. 2005. Changes of Cu, Zn, and Cd speciation in sewage sludge during composting. Journal of Environmental Sciences 17:957-961.

Garbisu C, Alkorta I. 2001. Phytoextraction: a cost-effective plant-based technology for the removal of metals from the environment. Bioresour Technol 77(3):229-236.

Garcia-Gil J, Ceppi S, Velasco M, Polo A, Senesi N. 2004. Long-term effects of amendment with municipal solid waste compost on the elemental and acidic functional group composition and pH-buffer capacity of soil humic acids. Geoderma 121:135-142.

Garcia-Gil J, Plaza C, Soler-Rovira P, Polo A. 2000. Long-term effects of municipal solid waste compost application on soil enzyme activities and microbial biomass. Soil Biol Biochem 32:1907-1913.

Ge Y, Hendershot W. 2005. Modeling sorption of Cd, Hg and Pb in soils by the NICA-Donnan model. Soil Sed Contam 14:53-69.

Getz LL. 1961. Home ranges, territoriality, and movement of the meadow vole. J Mammal 24-36.

Ghosh M, Singh S. 2005. A comparative study of cadmium phytoextraction by accumulator and weed species. Environmental Pollution 133:365-371.

Gigliotti G, Businelli D, Giusquiani PL. 1996. Trace metals uptake and distribution in corn plants grown on a 6-year urban waste compost amended soil. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 58:199-206.

Ghnaya T, Slama I, Messedi D, Grignon C, Ghorbel MH, Abdelly C. 2007. Effects of Cd2+ on K+, Ca2+ and N uptake in two halophytes Sesuvium portulacastrum and Mesembryanthemum crystallinum: Consequences on growth. Chemosphere 67:72-79.

Greenway GM, Song QJ. 2002. Heavy metal speciation in the composting process. Journal of Environmental Monitoring 4:300-305.

Greenwood S, Rutter A, Zeeb B. 2011. The absorption and translocation of polychlorinated biphenyl congeners by *Cucurbita pepo* ssp *pepo*. Environ Sci Technol 45:6511-6516.

Guo X, Zhang S, Shan X, Luo L, Pei Z, Zhu Y, Liu T, Xie Y, Gault A. 2006. Characterization of Pb, Cu, and Cd adsorption on particulate organic matter in soil. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 25:2366-2373.

Gupta AK, Sinha S. 2007. Phytoextraction capacity of the Chenopodium album L. grown on soil amended with tannery sludge. Bioresour Technol 98:442-446.

Haghiri F. 1974. Plant Uptake of Cadmium as Influenced by Cation-Exchange Capacity, Organic-Matter, Zinc, and Soil Temperature. J Environ Qual 3:180-183.

Hallett SG. 2006. Dislocation from coevolved relationships: a unifying theory for plant invasion and naturalization? Weed Sci 54:282-290.

Hamilton WJ. 1941. The food of small forest mammals in Eastern United States. Jour Mammal 22:250-263.

Hamilton WJ. 1951. Warm Weather Foods of the Raccoon in New-York State. J Mammal 32:341-344.

Hanc A, Tlustos P, Szakova J, Habart J. 2009. Changes in cadmium mobility during composting and after soil application. Waste Manage 29:2282-2288.

He X, Logan TJ, Traina SJ. 1995. Physical and chemical characteristics of selected US municipal solid waste composts. J Environ Qual 24:543-552.

He M, Tian G, Liang X. 2009. Phytotoxicity and speciation of copper, zinc and lead during the aerobic composting of sewage sludge. J Hazard Mater 163:671-677.

He QB, Singh BR. 1993. Effect of organic-matter on the distribution, extractability and uptake of cadmium in soils. J Soil Sci 44:641-650.

Hinesly TD, Redborg KE, Pietz RI, Ziegler EL. 1984. Cadmium and zinc uptake by corn (*Zea Mays L*) with repeated applications of sewage-sludge. J Agric Food Chem 32:155-163.

Hooda P, Alloway B. 1998. Cadmium and lead sorption behaviour of selected English and Indian soils. Geoderma 84:121-134.

Horckmans L, Swennen R, Deckers J. 2007. Retention and release of Zn and Cd in spodic horizons as determined by pH<sub>stat</sub> analysis and single extractions. Sci Total Environ 376:86-99.

Horner DB, Smith JC. 1975. The distribution of tracer doses of cadmium in the normal rat. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 3:307-18.

Howell JC. 1943. Notes on the nesting habits of the American robin (*Turdus migratorius* L.). Amer Midland Nat 28:529-603.

Hudgins JE, Storm GL, Wakeley JS. 1985. Local movements and diurnal-habitat selection by male American woodcock in Pennsylvania. The Journal of wildlife management 614-619.

Hunter BA, Johnson MS. 1982. Food-chain relationships of copper and cadmium in contaminated grassland ecosystems. Oikos 38:108-117.

Hutton M. 1983. Sources of cadmium in the environment. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 7:9-24.

Hyun H, Chang AC, Parker DR, Page AL. 1998. Cadmium solubility and phytoavailability in sludge-treated soil: Effects of soil organic carbon. J Environ Qual 27:329-334.

Illera V, Walter I, Souza P, Cala V. 2000. Short-term effects of biosolid and municipal solid waste applications on heavy metals distribution in a degraded soil under a semi-arid environment. Sci Total Environ 255:29-44.

Indoria AK, Poonia SR, Sharma KL. 2013. Phytoextractability of Cd from soil by some oilseed species as affected by sewage sludge and farmyard manure. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 44:3444-3455.

Ishikawa S, Noriharu A, Murakami M, Wagatsuma T. 2006. Is *Brassica juncea* a suitable plant for phytoremediation of cadmium in soils with moderately low cadmium contamination? Possibility of using other plant species for Cd-phytoextraction. Soil Sci Plant Nutr 52:32-42.

Jameson E. 1952. Food of deer mice, Peromyscus maniculatus and *P. boylei*, in the northern Sierra Nevada, California. J Mammal 50-60.

Ji P, Song Y, Sun T, Liu Y, Cao X, Xu D, Yang X, McRae T. 2011. In-Situ Cadmium phytoremediation using *Solanum Nigrum* L.: the bio-accumulation characteristics trail. Int J Phytoremediation 13:1014-1023.

Johnson ST, Smith MA, Harris MR, Herbert SM. 1993. Guidance for construction on contaminated sites. In: Contaminated Soil '93: Fourth International KFK/TNO Conference on Contaminated Soil 3-7 May 1993 Berlin, Germany (Vol. 1). Springer.

Jouraiphy A, Amir S, El Gharous M, Revel J, Hafidi M. 2005. Chemical and spectroscopic analysis of organic matter transformation during composting of sewage sludge and green plant waste. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 56:101-108.

Jun R, Ling T. 2012. Increase of Cd accumulation in five poplar (*Populus* L.) with different supply levels of Cd. Int J Phytoremediation 14:101-113.

KabataPendias A. 2000. *Trace elements in soils and plants* (3rd Ed.). Boca Raton, Florida, CRC Press LLC.

KabataPendias A, Mukherjee AB. 2007. Trace Elements from Soil to Human. Berlin, Springer.

Karaca A, Naseby DC, Lynch JM. 2002. Effect of cadmium contamination with sewage sludge and phosphate fertiliser amendments on soil enzyme activities, microbial structure and available cadmium. Biol Fertility Soils 35:428-434.

Karak T, Das DK, Singh UK, Maiti D. 2005. Influence of pH on soil charge characteristics and cadmium sorption in some noncontaminated soils of Indian subtropics. The Scientific World Journal 5:183-194.

Kaschl A, Romheld V, Chen Y. 2002. Cadmium binding by fractions of dissolved organic matter and humic substances from municipal solid waste compost. J Environ Qual 31:1885-1892.

Kashem MA, Singh BR. 2001. Metal availability in contaminated soils: II. Uptake of Cd, Ni and Zn in rice plants grown under flooded culture with organic matter addition. Nutr Cycling Agroecosyst 61:257-266.

Khan DH, Frankland B. 1983. Effects of Cadmium and Lead on Radish Plants with Particular Reference to Movement of Metals through Soil-Profile and Plant. Plant Soil 70:335-345.

Khan FI, Husain T, Hejazi R. 2004. An overview and analysis of site remediation technologies. J Environ Manage 71:95-122.

Kim K, Owens G, Naidu R, Kwon S. 2010. Influence of plant roots on rhizosphere soil solution composition of long-term contaminated soils. Geoderma 155:86-92.

Kirkham MB. 2006. Cadmium in plants on polluted soils: Effects of soil factors, hyperaccumulation, and amendments. Geoderma 137:19-32.

Klaassen CD, Liu J, Diwan BA. 2009. Metallothionein protection of cadmium toxicity. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 238:215-220.

Kloss S, Zehetner F, Dellantonio A, Hamid R, Ottner F, Liedtke V, Schwanninger M, Gerzabek MH, Soja G. 2012. Characterization of slow pyrolysis biochars: Effects of feedstocks and pyrolysis temperature on biochar properties. J Environ Qual 41:990-1000.

Kookana RS, Naidu R, Barry DA, Tran YT, Bajracharya K. 1999. Sorption-desorption equilibria and dynamics of cadmium during transport in soil. In: *Fate and Transport of Heavy Metals in the Vadose Zone* (Selim, H. M. and Iskandar, I. K., Eds.). Boca Raton, FL, CRC Press LLT.

Kramer U. 2005. Phytoremediation: novel approaches to cleaning up polluted soils. Curr Opin Biotechnol 16:133-141.

Krishnamurti GSR, Naidu R. 2003. Solid-solution equilibria of cadmium in soils. Geoderma 113:17-30.

Kroner SM, Cozzie DA. 1999. Data collection for the hazardous waste identification rule. Section 12.0: Ecological exposure factors. US Environmental Protection Agency Office of Solid Waste, Washington, DC, 20460.

Kukier U, Chaney RL, Ryan JA, Daniels WL, Dowdy RH, Granato TC. 2010. Phytoavailability of cadmium in long-term biosolids-amended soils. J Environ Qual 39:519-530.

Kumar PN, Dushenkov V, Motto H, Raskin I. 1995. Phytoextraction: the use of plants to remove heavy metals from soils. Environ Sci Technol 29:1232-1238.

Kuzyakov Y, Bogomolova I, Glaser B. 2014. Biochar stability in soil: Decomposition during eight years and transformation as assessed by compound-specific C-14 analysis. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 70:229-236.

Lai H, Chen S, Chen Z. 2008. Pot experiment to study the uptake of Cd and Pb by three Indian mustards (*Brassica juncea*) grown in artificially contaminated soils. Int J Phytoremediation 10:91-105.

Laine J, Simoni S, Calles R. 1991. Preparation of activated carbon from coconut shell in a small-scale cocurrent flow rotary kiln. Chem Eng Commun 99:15-23.

Laird D, Flemming P. 2008. Analysis of Layer Charge, Cation and Anion Exchange Capacities and Synthesis of Reduced Charge Clays. In: *Methods of soil analysis: Mineralogical methods*, pp. 499-501 (Ulery, A., L. and Drees, R., L., Eds.), Amer Society of Agronomy.

Lasat M. 2000. Phytoextraction of metals from contaminated soil: a review of plant/soil/metal interaction and assessment of pertinent agronomic issues. Journal of Hazardous Substance Research 2:1-25.

Lehmann J, Joseph S. 2012. Biochar for environmental management: science and technology, Routledge. Earthscan.

Liang B, Lehmann J, Solomon D, Kinyangi J, Grossman J, O'Neill B, Skjemstad JO, Thies J, Luizao FJ, Petersen J, Neves EG. 2006. Black Carbon increases cation exchange capacity in soils. Soil Sci Soc Am J 70:1719-1730.

Li T, Di Z, Yang X, Sparks DL. 2011. Effects of dissolved organic matter from the rhizosphere of the hyperaccumulator *Sedum alfredii* on sorption of zinc and cadmium by different soils. J Hazard Mater 192:1616-1622.

Li Y, Chaney RL, Siebielec G, Kerschner BA. 2000. Response of four turfgrass cultivars to limestone and biosolids-compost amendment of a zinc and cadmium contaminated soil at Palmerton, Pennsylvania. J Environ Qual 29:1440-1447.

Li Z, Ryan JA, Chen J, Al-Abed SR. 2001. Adsorption of cadmium on biosolids-amended soils. J Environ Qual 30:903-911.

Li NY, Fu QL, Zhuang P, Guo B, Zou B, Li ZA. 2012. Effect of Fertilizers on Cd Uptake of Amaranthus Hypochondriacus, a High Biomass, Fast Growing and Easily Cultivated Potential Cd Hyperaccumulator. Int J Phytoremediation 14:162-173.

Liang B, Lehmann J, Solomon D, Kinyangi J, Grossman J, O'Neill B, Skjemstad JO, Thies J, Luizao FJ, Petersen J, Neves EG. 2006. Black Carbon increases cation exchange capacity in soils. Soil Sci Soc Am J 70:1719-1730.

Liu W, Shu WS, Lan CY. 2004. Viola baoshanensis, a plant that hyperaccumulates cadmium. Chinese Science Bulletin 49: 29-32.

Lindroth R, Batzli G. 1984. Food-habits of the meadow vole (*Microtus Pennsylvanicus*) in bluegrass and prairie habitats. J Mammal 65:600-606.

Loganathan P, Vigneswaran S, Kandasamy J, Naidu R. 2012. Cadmium sorption and desorption in soils: A review. Crit Rev Environ Sci Technol 42:489-533.

Lotze J-H. 1979. The raccoon *Procyon lotor* on St-Catherines Island Georgia. 4, Comparison of home ranges determined by live trapping and radio tracking. American Museum Novitates 1-25.

Low JE, Whitfield-Åslund ML., Rutter A, Zeeb BA. 2010. Effect of Plant Age on PCB Accumulation by *Cucurbita pepo* ssp. *pepo*. Journal of Environmental Quality 39:245-250.

Low JE, Whitfield-Åslund ML, Rutter A, Zeeb BA. 2011. The effects of pruning and nodal adventitious roots on polychlorinated biphenyl uptake by *Cucurbita pepo* grown in field conditions. Environ Pollut 159:769-775.

Ma LQ, Rao GN. 1997. Chemical fractionation of cadmium, copper, nickel, and zinc in contaminated soils. J Environ Qual 26:259-264.

Madison D. 1980. Space use and social-structure in meadow voles, *Microtus Pennsylvanicus*. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 7:65-71.

Major J, Rondon M, Molina D, Riha SJ, Lehmann J. 2010. Maize yield and nutrition during 4 years after biochar application to a Colombian savanna oxisol. Plant Soil 333:117-128.

Martínez CE, McBride MB. 1999. Dissolved and labile concentrations of Cd, Cu, Pb, and Zn in aged ferrihydrite-organic matter systems. Environ Sci Technol 33:745-750.

McBride MB. 2003a. Cadmium concentration limits in agricultural soils: weaknesses in US EPA's risk assessment and the 503 Rule. Hum Ecol Risk Assess 9:661-674.

McBride MB. 2003b. Toxic metals in sewage sludge-amended soils: has promotion of beneficial use discounted the risks? Adv Environ Res 8:5-19.

McBride MB. 1994. Environmental Chemistry of Soils. New York, NY, Oxford University Press.

Mcgrath SP, Cegarra J. 1992. Chemical Extractability of Heavy-Metals during and After Long-Term Applications of Sewage-Sludge to Soil. J Soil Sci 43:313-321.

McGrath SP, Zhao FJ, Dunham SJ, Crosland AR, Coleman K. 2000. Long-term changes in the extractability and bioavailability of zinc and cadmium after sludge application. J Environ Qual 29:875-883.

McGrath SP, Zhao FJ. 2003. Phytoextraction of metals and metalloids from contaminated soils. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 14(3):277-282.

McLean JE, Bledsoe BE. 1996. Behavior of Metals in Soils. EPA Environmental Assessment Sourcebook 19.

Merritt JF. 1986. Winter survival adaptations of the short-tailed shrew (*Blarina Brevicauda*) in an appalachian montane forest. J Mammal 67:450-464.

Milan B, Slobodanka P, Natasa N, Borivoj K, Milan Z, Marko K, Andrej P, Sasa O. 2012. Response of *Salix alba* L. to heavy metals and diesel fuel contamination. African Journal of Biotechnology 11:14313-14319.

Millar JS. 1982. Life-cycle characteristics of northern *Peromyscus maniculatus borealis*. Canadian Journal of Zoology-Revue Canadienne De Zoologie 60:510-515.

Miller JE, Hassett JJ, Koeppe DE. 1976. Uptake of cadmium by soybeans as influenced by soil cation-exchange capacity, Ph, and available phosphorus. J Environ Qual 5:157-160.

Mishra S, Srivastava S, Tripathi RD, Govindarajan R, Kuriakose SV, Prasad, MNV. 2006. Phytochelatin synthesis and response of antioxidants during cadmium stress in *Bacopa monnieri* L. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 44(1):25-37

Mkandawire M, Lyubun YV, Kosterin PV, Dudel EG. 2004. Toxicity of arsenic species to *Lemna gibba* L. and the influence of phosphate on arsenic bioavailability. Environ Toxicol 19:26-34.

Mohamed AA, Castagna A, Ranieri A, di Toppi LS. 2012. Cadmium tolerance in *Brassica juncea* roots and shoots is affected by antioxidant status and phytochelatin biosynthesis. Plant Physiology and Biochemistry 57:15-22.

Morais FI, Page AL, Lund LJ. 1976. Effect of Ph, salt concentration, and nature of electrolytes on charge characteristics of Brazilian tropical soils. Soil Sci Soc Am J 40:521-527.

Morrow H. 2001. Cadmium and cadmium alloys. Kirk-Othmer Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology.

Mulligan C, Yong R, Gibbs B. 2001. Remediation technologies for metal-contaminated soils and groundwater: An evaluation. Eng Geol 60:193-207.

Naidu R, Bolan NS, Megharaj M, Juhasz AL, Gupta SK, Clothier BE, Schulin R. 2008. Chemical bioavailability in terrestrial environments. In: Chemical bioavailability in terrestrial environments (Naidu R, Ed.). Amsterdam, the Netherlands: Elsevier. p. 1-6.

Nagy KA. 1987. Field metabolic-rate and food requirement scaling in mammals and birds. Ecol Monogr 57:111-128.

Naidu R, Kookana RS, Sumner ME, Harter RD, Tiller KG. 1997. Cadmium sorption and transport in variable charge soils: A review. J Environ Qual 26:602-617.

National Resource Council of Canada (NRCC). 1994. Tort-2: Lobster Hepatopancreas Reference Material for Trace Metals. NRCC Institute for National Measurement Standards: Ottawa, Canada.

Nordberg GF. 2009. Historical perspectives on cadmium toxicology. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 238:192-200.

Ontario Ministry of the Environment (MOE). 1996. Guideline for Use at Contaminated Sites in Ontario. Queen's Printer for Ontario.

Ontario Ministry of the Environment (MOE). 2011. Soil, Ground Water and Sediment Standards for Use under Part XV.1 of the Environmental Protection Act. PIBS # 7382e01. p. 22.

Parisien MP, Rutter A, Zeeb BA. Submitted. Feasibility of using phytoextraction to remediate a compostbased soil contaminated with cadmium. MSc thesis, chapter 3. Royal Military College of Canada: Kingston, Ontario.

Park JH, Choppala GK, Bolan NS, Chung JW, Chuasavathi T. 2011b. Biochar reduces the bioavailability and phytotoxicity of heavy metals. Plant Soil 348:439-451.

Park J, Liu Y, Klaassen C. 2001. Protective effect of metallothionein against the toxicity of cadmium and other metals. Toxicology 163:93-100.

Park JH, Lamb D, Paneerselvam P, Choppala G, Bolan N, Chung J. 2011a. Role of organic amendments on enhanced bioremediation of heavy metal(loid) contaminated soils. J Hazard Mater 185:549-574.

Pascual JA, Garcia C, Hernandez T, Moreno JL, Ros M. 2000. Soil microbial activity as a biomarker of degradation and remediation processes. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 32:1877-1883.

Pengcheng G, Xinbao T, Yanan T, Yingxu C. 2008. Application of sewage sludge compost on highway embankments. Waste Manage 28:1630-1636.

Petruzzelli G, Pedron F, Gorini G, Pezzarossa B, Tassi E, Barbafieri M. 2013. Enhanced Bioavailable Contaminant Stripping (EBCS): metal bioavailability for evaluation of phytoextraction success. Proceedings of the 16th International Conference on Heavy Metals in the Environment 1:31001.

Pimentel D. 2006. Soil erosion: a food and environmental threat. Environ Dev Sustainability 8:119-137.

Pitard FF. 1993. Pierre Gy's sampling theory and sampling practice: Heterogeneity, sampling correctness, and statistical process control. Boca Raton, Florida, CRC Press.

Platt WJ. 1974. Metabolic rates of short-tailed shrews. Physiol Zool 47:75-90.

Platt WJ. 1976. Social-organization and territoriality of short-tailed shrew (*Blarina Brevicauda*) populations in old-field habitats. Anim Behav 24:305-318.

Podar D, Ramsey MH, Hutchings MJ. 2004. Effect of cadmium, zinc and substrate heterogeneity on yield, shoot metal concentration and metal uptake by *Brassica juncea*: implications for human health risk assessment and phytoremediation. New Phytol 163:313-324.

Prokop Z, Cupr P, Zlevorova-Zlamalikova V, Komarek J, Dusek L, Holoubek I. 2003. Mobility, bioavailability, and toxic effects of cadmium in soil samples. Environ Res 91:119-126.

Pyšek P, Richardson DM, Rejmánek M, Webster GL, Williamson M, Kirschner J. 2004. Alien plants in checklists and floras: towards better communication between taxonomists and ecologists. Taxon 131-143.

Quartacci M, Baker A, Navari-Izzo F. 2005. Nitrilotriacetate-and citric acid-assisted phytoextraction of cadmium by Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea* (L.) Czernj, *Brassicaceae*). Chemosphere 59:1249-1255.

Rabe D, Prince H, Beaver D. 1983. Feeding-site selection and foraging strategies of American woodcock. Auk 100:711-716.

Richardson DM, Pyšek P, Rejmánek M, Barbour MG, Panetta FD, West CJ. 2000. Naturalization and invasion of alien plants: concepts and definitions. Divers Distrib 6:93-107.

Roca-Perez L, Martinez C, Marcilla P, Boluda R. 2009. Composting rice straw with sewage sludge and compost effects on the soil-plant system. Chemosphere 75:781-787.

Romero-Puertas MC, Rodriguez-Serrano M, Corpas FJ, Gomez M, Del Rio LA, Sandalio LM. 2004. Cadmium-induced subcellular accumulation of O2-– and H2O2 in pea leaves. Plant Cell and Environment 27:1122-1134.

Rongstad OJ. 1966. A cottontail rabbit lens-growth curve from southern Wisconsin. J Wildl Manage 30:114.

Saha UK, Taniguchi S, Sakurai K. 2002. Simultaneous adsorption of cadmium, zinc, and lead on hydroxyaluminum- and hydroxyaluminosilicate-montmorillonite complexes. Soil Sci Soc Am J 66:117-128.

Salati S, Quadri G, Tambone F, Adani F. 2010. Fresh organic matter of municipal solid waste enhances phytoextraction of heavy metals from contaminated soil. Environmental pollution 158:1899-1906.

Salt DE, Smith RD, Raskin I. 1998. Phytoremediation. Annu Rev Plant Physiol Plant Mol Biol 49:643-668.

Sample BE, Opresko DM, Suter II GW. 1996. Toxicological benchmarks for Wildlife: 1996 Revision. Washington, DC: US Department of Energy.

Sample BE, Suter II GW. 1994. Estimating exposure of terrestrial wildlife to contaminants (No. ES/ER/TM-125). Oak Ridge, TN: Oak Ridge National Laboratory (US).

Sas-Nowosielska A, Kucharski R, Malkowski E, Pogrzeba M, Kuperberg JM, Krynski K. 2004. Phytoextraction crop disposal - an unsolved problem. Environmental Pollution 128:373-379.

Schnitzer M. 1991. Soil organic matter-the next 75 years. Soil Sci 151:41-58.

Schwartz C, Echevarria G, Morel JL. 2003. Phytoextraction of cadmium with *Thlaspi caerulescens*. Plant Soil 249:27-35.

Sepik GF, McAuley DG, Longcore JR. 1993. Critical review of the current knowledge of the biology of the American woodcock and its management on the breeding grounds. U S Fish and Wildlife Service Biological Report 0:98-104.

Shaheen SM. 2009. Sorption and lability of cadmium and lead in different soils from Egypt and Greece. Geoderma 153:61-68.

Sheppe W. 1966. Determinants of home range in the deer mouse, *Peromyscus leucopus*. Proc Calif Acad ScL 34.

Shiralipour A, McConnell DB, Smith WH. 1992. Physical and chemical properties of soils as affected by municipal solid waste compost application. Biomass Bioenergy 3:261-266.

Shukla U, Singh J, Joshi P, Kakkar P. 2003. Effect of bioaccumulation of cadmium on biomass productivity, essential trace elements, chlorophyll biosynthesis, and macromolecules of wheat seedlings. Biol Trace Elem Res 92:257-273.

Shuman LM, Dudka S, Das K. 2002. Cadmium forms and plant availability in compost-amended soil. Commun Soil Sci Plant Anal 33:737-748.

Simeoni L, Barbarick K, Sabey B. 1984. Effect of small-scale composting of sewage sludge on heavy metal availability to plants. J Environ Qual 13:264-268.

Sims J, Kline J. 1991. Chemical fractionation and plant uptake of heavy metals in soils amended with cocomposted sewage sludge. J Environ Qual 20:387-395.

Singh RP, Agrawal M. 2008. Potential benefits and risks of land application of sewage sludge. Waste Manage 28:347-358.

Singh VP. 2005. Toxic Metals and Environmental Issues. Darya Ganj, New Delhi, Sarup & Sons.

Skorupa JP, Hothem RL. 1985. Consumption of commercially-grown grapes by American robins – A field evaluation of laboratory estimates. J Field Ornithol 56:369-378.

Sloan JJ, Dowdy RH, Dolan MS, Linden DR. 1997. Long-term effects of biosolids applications on heavy metal bioavailability in agricultural soils. J Environ Qual 26:966-974.

Smith B, Rutter A, Zeeb BA. 2012. Environmental risk associated with the phytoextraction of persistent organic pollutants (POPs) from contaminated brownfield sites.

Smith SR. 2009. A critical review of the bioavailability and impacts of heavy metals in municipal solid waste composts compared to sewage sludge. Environ Int 35:142-156.

Sparks DL. 2003. Chemistry of Soil Organic Matter. In: *Environmental Soil Chemistry*, pp. 76 (Crumly, C. R., Ed.). San Diego, CA, Academic Press.

Speirs JM. 1953. Winter distribution of robins east of the Rocky Mountains. Wilson Bull 65:175-183.

Spokas KA. 2010. Review of the stability of biochar in soils: predictability of O:C molar ratios. Carbon Management 1:289-303.

Squibb KS, Cousins RJ, Silbon BL, Levin S. 1976. Liver and Intestinal Metallothionein - Function in Acute Cadmium Toxicity. Exp Mol Pathol 25:163-171.

Stark JD. 2000. An overview of risk assessment. In: National Research Council (Ed.). Incorporating Science, Economics, and Sociology in Developing Sanitary and Phytosanitary Standards in International Trade: Proceedings of a Conference (pp. 51-64). Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2000.

Steiner C, Teixeira WG, Lehmann J, Nehls T, de Macedo JLV, Blum WEH, Zech W. 2007. Long term effects of manure, charcoal and mineral fertilization on crop production and fertility on a highly weathered Central Amazonian upland soil. Plant Soil 291:275-290.

Stohs SJ, Bagchi D, Hassoun E, Bagchi M. 2001. Oxidative mechanisms in the toxicity of chromium and cadmium ions. Journal of Environmental Pathology Toxicology and Oncology 20:77-88.

Su D, Wong J. 2004. Selection of mustard oilseed rape (*Brassica juncea* L.) for phytoremediation of cadmium contaminated soil. Bull Environ Contam Toxicol 72:991-998.

Sun Y, Gao B, Yao Y, Fang J, Zhang M, Zhou Y, Chen H, Yang L. 2014. Effects of feedstock type, production method, and pyrolysis temperature on biochar and hydrochar properties. Chem Eng J 240:574-578.

Suppadit T, Kitikoon V, Phubphol A, Neumnoi P. 2012. Effect of Quail Litter Biochar on Productivity of Four New Physic Nut Varieties Planted in Cadmium-Contaminated Soil. Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research 72:125-132.

Suter II GW. 1990. Endpoints for regional ecological risk assessments. Environ Manage 14:9-23.

Sutou S, Yamamoto K, Sendota H, Sugiyama M. 1980. Toxicity, fertility, teratogenicity, and dominant lethal tests in rats administered cadmium subchronically: II. Fertility, teratogenicity, and dominant lethal tests. Ecotoxicol Environ Saf 4:51-56.

Tessier A, Campbell PGC, Bisson M. 1979. Sequential extraction procedure for the speciation of particulate trace-metals. Anal Chem 51:844-851.

Tran, Popova LP. 2013. Functions and toxicity of cadmium in plants: recent advances and future prospects. Turkish Journal of Botany 37:1-13.

Tiller KG, Gerth J, Brummer G. 1984. The sorption of Cd, Zn and Ni by soil clay fractions - procedures for partition of bound forms and their interpretation. Geoderma 34:1-16.

Trent TT, Rongstad OJ. 1974. Home range and survival of cottontail rabbits in southwestern Wisconsin. J Wildl Manage 38:459-472.

Uchimiya M, Bannon DI, Wartelle LH. 2012. Retention of heavy metals by carboxyl functional groups of biochars in small arms range soil. J Agric Food Chem 60:1798-1809.

Uchimiya M, Klasson KT, Wartelle LH, Lima IM. 2011. Influence of soil properties on heavy metal sequestration by biochar amendment: 1. Copper sorption isotherms and the release of cations. Chemosphere 82:1431-1437.

Uchimiya M, Lima IM, Klasson KT, Wartelle LH. 2010. Contaminant immobilization and nutrient release by biochar soil amendment: Roles of natural organic matter. Chemosphere 80:935.

Uras U, Carrier M, Hardie AG, Knoetze JH. 2012. Physico-chemical characterization of biochars from vacuum pyrolysis of South African agricultural wastes for application as soil amendments. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 98:207-213.

US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). 1993. Wildlife Exposure Factors Handbook Volumes I, II, and III. EPA/600/R-93/187B. Washington, DC: Office of Research and Development

US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). 1997. Ecological risk assessment guidance for Superfund: process for designing and conducting ecological risk assessments—interim final. Washington, DC: United States Environmental Protection Agency.

US Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). 1998. Guidelines for Ecological Risk Assessment. EPA/630/R-95/002F. Washington, DC: United States Environmental Protection Agency.

US Environmental Protection Agency. 2003. Biosolids Technology Fact Sheet: Use of Landfilling for Biosolids Management. EPA-832-F-03-012. Municipal Technology Branch: Washington, DC.

Uzoma KC, Inoue M, Andry H, Fujimaki H, Zahoor A, Nishihara E. 2011. Effect of cow manure biochar on maize productivity under sandy soil condition. Soil Use Manage 27:205-212.

Vinkler P, Lakatos B, Meisel J. 1976. Infrared Spectroscopic Investigations of Humic Substances and their Metal-Complexes. Geoderma 15:231-242.

Vyslouzilova M, Tlustos P, Szakova J. 2003. Cadmium and zinc phytoextraction potential of seven clones of Salix spp. planted on heavy metal contaminated soils. Plant Soil and Environment 49:542-547.

Wang YD, Fang J, Leonard SS, Rao KMK. 2004. Cadmium inhibits the electron transfer chain and induces reactive oxygen species. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 36:1434-1443.

Wen G, Bates T, Voroney R, Yamamoto T, Chikushi J, Curtin D. 2002. A yield control approach to assess phytoavailability of Zn and Cu in irradiated, composted sewage sludges and composted manure in field experiments: I. Zinc. Plant Soil 246:231-240.

Wheelwright NT. 1986. The diet of American robins: an analysis of US Biological Survey records. Auk 103:710-725

Whitaker J. 1966. Food of *Mus musculus*, *Peromyscus maniculatus bairdi* and *Peromyscus Leucopus* in Vigo County Indiana. J Mammal 47:473.

White DH, Finley MT. 1978. Uptake and retention of dietary cadmium in mallard ducks. Environ Res 17:53-59.

Wolff NA, Abouhamed M, Verroust PJ, Thevenod F. 2006. Megalin-dependent internalization of cadmium-metallothionein and cytotoxicity in cultured renal proximal tubule cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 318:782-791.

Wong J, Li K, Zhou L, Selvam A. 2007. The sorption of Cd and Zn by different soils in the presence of dissolved organic matter from sludge. Geoderma 137:310-317.

Wu Q, Xu Z, Meng Q, Gerard E, Morel J. 2004. Characterization of cadmium desorption in soils and its relationship to plant uptake and cadmium leaching. Plant Soil 258:217-226.

Wu W, Yang M, Feng Q, McGrouther K, Wang H, Lu H, Chen Y. 2012. Chemical characterization of rice straw-derived biochar for soil amendment. Biomass Bioenergy 47:268-276.

Xian X. 1989. Effect of chemical forms of cadmium, zinc, and lead in polluted soils on their uptake by cabbage plants. Plant Soil 113:257-264.

Yanai J, Zhao FJ, McGrath SP, Kosaki T. 2006. Effect of soil characteristics on Cd uptake by the hyperaccumulator *Thlaspi caerulescens*. Environmental Pollution 139:167-175.

Young H. 1955. Breeding behavior and nesting of the Eastern robin. Amer Midland Nat 53:329-352.

Young SD. 2013. Chemistry of Heavy Metals and Metalloids in Soils. In: *Heavy Metals in Soil*, pp. 51-93. Netherlands, Springer.

Zachara JM, Smith SC, Resch CT, Cowan CE. 1992. Cadmium sorption to soil separates containing layer silicates and iron and aluminum-oxides. Soil Sci Soc Am J 56:1074-1084.

Zhang Z, Solaiman ZM, Meney K, Murphy DV, Rengel Z. 2013. Biochars immobilize soil cadmium, but do not improve growth of emergent wetland species *Juncus subsecundus* in cadmium-contaminated soil. J Soils Sediments 13:140-151.

Zhou L, Yang H, Shen Q, Wong M, Wong J. 2000. Fractionation and characterization of dissolved organic matter derived from sewage sludge and composted sludge. Environ Technol 21:765-771.

Zimmerman AR. 2010. Abiotic and microbial oxidation of laboratory-produced black carbon (biochar). Environ Sci Technol 44:1295-1301.

Zinati GM, Li Y, Bryan HH, Mylavarapu RS, Codallo M. 2004. Distribution and fractionation of phosphorus, cadmium, nickel, and lead in calcareous soils amended with composts. Journal of Environmental Science and Health, Part B 39:209-223.
# 8. APPENDICES

Contents:

### Appendix A

Additional site information: Cadmium concentrations in soil grid samples at the Peterborough Gun Club.

#### **Appendix B**

Raw data for Chapter 3: Feasibility of using phytoextraction to remediate a compost-based soil contaminated with cadmium.

#### Appendix C

Raw data for Chapter 4: Ecological risk associated with phytoextraction of soil contaminants.

#### Appendix D

Raw data for Chapter 5: Effect of biochar on cadmium fractionation with organic matter degradation in a soil amended with municipal solid waste/sewage sludge compost.

#### Appendix E

Additional Information: Target values for quality assurance and quality control samples.

## 8.1 APPENDIX A

#### Additional site information

Soil Cd concentrations at the Peterborough Gun Club

Table A-1. Cadmium concentrations in soil samples collected from the Peterborough Gun Club.

**Figure A-1.** Map of sample locations at the Peterborough Gun Club corresponding to the sample numbers in Table A-1.

Sample Number	Soil [Cd] ( $\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$ )
6001	2.7
6002	3.1
6003	2.7
6004	1.4
6005	1.9
6006	2.6
6007	5.4
6008	6.9
6009	11.5
6010	7.7
6011	6.9
6012	2.3
6013	1.5
6014	5.8
6015	2.2
6016	2.7
6017	2.7
6018	8.6
6019	21.4
6020	11.3
6021	1.7
6022	5.2
6023	2.5
6024	2.7
6025	17.4
6026	3.8
6027	2.7
6028	5.4
6029	3.4
6030	3.4
6031	4.7
6032	4.1
6033	1.3
6034	1.5
6035	<1.0
6036	3.4
6037	5.6
6038	5.7
6039	5.9
6040	13.3
6041	16.7

**Table A-1.** Cadmium concentrations in soil samples collected from the Peterborough Gun Club. Quality assurance and quality control data are included at the bottom of the table.

6042	13.9
6043	8.7
6044	4.0
6045	6.0
6046	3.0
6047	6.0
6048	5.0
6049	10.3
6050	10.7
6051	6.6
Blank	<1.0
SS-2	1.7
SS-2	1.7
SS-2 Target	1.8
6004	1.4
6004-D	1.4
6010	10.4
6010-D	9.9
6017	2.8
6017-D	2.7
6023	24
6023-D	2.6
	2.0
6028	5.1
6028-D	5.8
6036	3.2
6036-D	3.6
6049	10.1
6049-D	10.5



Figure A-1. Map of sample locations at the Peterborough Gun Club corresponding to the sample numbers in Table A-1.

### 8.2 APPENDIX B

#### Raw data for Chapter 3

Feasibility of using phytoextraction to remediate a compost-based soil contaminated with cadmium.

**Table B-1.** Particle size distribution data for all treatments.

**Table B-2.** Cation exchange capacity values for all treatments.

**Table B-3.** pH values for all treatments.

Table B-4. Soil organic matter content of all treatments determined by loss on ignition (LOI).

Table B-5. Cadmium concentrations of soil, roots, and shoots in each pot of the greenhouse experiment.

**Table B-6.** Soil Cd concentrations of the low and high Cd field plots at the PGC, and root and shoot Cd concentrations of *Brassica juncea* grown in the field experiment.

Table B-7. Sequential extraction results for low Cd and high Cd soils.

Table B-8. Final root and shoot dry weights (dw) for plants grown in the greenhouse pot experiment.

Sieve Numbers											
Sample Name	Sample Mass	4	10	18	35	60	100	200	Pan	% Coarse	% Fine
Low Cd 1	198.24	0.01	0.02	17.97	20.80	20.01	18.15	17.74	5.30	38.80	61.20
Low Cd 2	197.00	0.22	0.17	19.46	21.38	20.74	20.90	13.36	3.77	41.23	58.77
Low Cd 3	198.49	0.01	0.15	18.26	21.06	21.10	23.55	11.79	4.07	39.48	60.52
High Cd 1	178.72	0.07	0.22	20.99	27.28	19.67	11.98	10.21	9.58	48.56	51.44
High Cd 2	190.48	0.02	0.05	16.36	24.14	21.45	14.80	13.75	9.43	40.57	59.43
High Cd 3	197.71	0.02	0.08	16.77	24.88	21.02	14.47	12.28	10.49	41.75	58.25
Control soil1	51.53	9.74	14.75	13.35	13.55	17.37	18.16	11.51	1.57	51.39	48.61
Control soil 2	55.27	6.64	12.99	12.74	13.99	15.11	13.75	19.41	5.37	46.35	53.65
Control soil 3	57.84	4.84	14.11	13.40	14.25	15.84	14.06	16.91	6.60	46.59	53.41
Low Cd 3	198.49	0.01	0.15	18.26	21.06	21.10	23.55	11.79	4.07	39.48	60.52
Low Cd 3-D	190.30	0.01	0.16	18.32	21.09	21.88	22.80	12.03	3.71	39.58	60.42
0 1 10	<b>57</b> 0 <b>4</b>	4.0.4	1 4 1 4	10.40	1405	1504	14.06	1601	6.60		50.41
Control soil 3	57.84	4.84	14.11	13.40	14.25	15.84	14.06	16.91	6.60	46.59	53.41
Control soil 3-D	60.02	4.46	14.75	12.55	15.35	15.87	13.49	17.54	6.00	47.10	52.90

Table B-1. Particle size distribution data for the control, low Cd, and high Cd soil treatments. Duplicates are included at the bottom of the table.

Sample Name	CEC (cmol/kg)
Control	150.4
Low Cd	38.1
High Cd	46.2
Blank	<3.0
Anders	11.2
Anders-D	9.6
Control (ICV)	[Cd] (mg/L)
Control	16.7
Control Target	16.0

**Table B-2.** Cation exchange capacity values for all treatments. Quality assurance and quality control data are included at the bottom of the table.

Table B-3. pH values for all treatments. Quality assurance and quality control data are included at the bottom of the table.

Sample Name	рН	
Control Low Cd High Cd	5.4 7.6 7.7	
Control <sup>a</sup>	4.0	
Low Cd Low Cd-D	7.6 7.6	

<sup>a</sup> Solution with known pH of 4.0

**Table B-4.** Soil organic matter content of all treatments determined by loss on ignition (LOI). Quality assurance data is included at the bottom of the table.

Sample Name	Treatment	Organic Matter (%LOI)
Exp1-05	Control	89.3
Exp1-06	Control	86.5

Exp1-07	Control	87.2
Exp1-21	Low Cd	15.2
Exp1-22	Low Cd	14.6
Exp1-23	Low Cd	15.5
Exp1-24	Low Cd	14.8
Exp1-25	Low Cd	12.5
Exp1-27	Low Cd	12.7
Exp1-28	Low Cd	11.7
Exp1-31	Low Cd	13.4
Exp1-35	High Cd	23.5
Exp1-36	High Cd	26.8
Exp1-37	High Cd	27.8
Exp1-38	High Cd	24.9
Exp1-40	High Cd	21.5
Exp1-41	High Cd	23.6
Exp1-42	High Cd	21.8
Exp1-43	High Cd	25.6
Exp1-46	High Cd	25.4
Exp1-23	Low Cd	14.8
Exp1-23-D	Low Cd	15.1
Exp1-35	High Cd	23.5
Exp1-35-D	High Cd	24.1
Exp1-37	High Cd	27.8
Exp1-37-D	High Cd	25.8

**Table B-5.** Cadmium concentrations of soil, roots, and shoots in each pot of the greenhouse experiment. Quality assurance and quality control data are included at the bottom of the table.

Sample Name <sup>a</sup>	Treatment	Soil [Cd]	Root [Cd]	Shoot [Cd]
		$(\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$	$(\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$	$(\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$
Exp1-05/53	Poa compressa Control A	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-06/54	Poa compressa Control B	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-07/55	Poa compressa Control C	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-20/56	Poa compressa Low Cd A	4.9	5.6	<1.0
Exp1-21/57	Poa compressa Low Cd B	5.0	4.8	<1.0
Exp1-22/58	Poa compressa Low Cd C	4.9	5.1	<1.0
Exp1-35/59	Poa compressa High Cd A	16.0	7.1	<1.0
Exp1-36/60	Poa compressa High Cd B	16.5	6.6	<1.0
Exp1-37/61	Poa compressa High Cd C	17.6	9.8	<1.0
Exp1-11/65	Helianthus annuus Control A	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-12/66	Helianthus annuus Control B	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0

Exp1-13/67	Helianthus annuus Control C	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-26/68	Helianthus annuus Low Cd A	5.3	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-27/69	Helianthus annuus Low Cd B	4.8	1.5	<1.0
Exp1-28/70	Helianthus annuus Low Cd C	4.6	1.1	<1.0
Exp1-41/71	Helianthus annuus High Cd A	15.9	2.0	<1.0
Exp1-42/72	Helianthus annuus High Cd B	14.8	2.5	<1.0
Exp1-43/73	Helianthus annuus High Cd C	17.8	2.0	<1.0
Exp1-08/74	Brassica juncea Control A	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-09/75	Brassica juncea Control B	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-10/76	Brassica juncea Control C	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-23/77	Brassica juncea Low Cd A	4.6	3.4	1.7
Exp1-24/78	Brassica juncea Low Cd B	4.6	<1.0	1.2
Exp1-25/79	Brassica juncea Low Cd C	4.9	<1.0	1.52
Exp1-38/80	Brassica juncea High Cd A	16.4	<1.0	1.62
Exp1-39/81	Brassica juncea High Cd B	18.1	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-40/82	Brassica juncea High Cd C	15.3	<1.0	1.79
Exp1-14/86	Chenopodium album Control A	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-15/87	Chenopodium album Control B	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-16/88	Chenopodium album Control C	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0
Exp1-29 <sup>b</sup>	Chenopodium album Low Cd A	5.0	-	-
Exp1-30 <sup>b</sup>	Chenopodium album Low Cd B	5.6	-	-
Exp1-31/89	Chenopodium album Low Cd C	5.5	1.8	<1.0
Exp1-44/90	Chenopodium album High Cd A	15.5	3.3	<1.0
Exp1-45/91	Chenopodium album High Cd B	16.2	2.2	<1.0
Exp1-46/92	Chenopodium album High Cd C	18.3	3.7	<1.0

Sample Name	$[Cd] (\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$	Matrix
Blank	<1.0	Soil
Blank	<1.0	Plant
SS-2	1.7	Soil
SS-2	1.9	Soil
SS-2	1.8	Soil
SS-2 Target	1.8	Soil
NIST-1570A	2.2	Plant

NIST-1570A	1.7	Plant
NIST-1570A	2.4	Plant
NIST-1570A	2.0	Plant
NIST-1570A	2.0	Plant
NIST-1570A	2.4	Plant
Target		1 funt
8		
Exp1-4	13.1	Soil
Exp1-4-D	13.5	Soil
1		
Exp1-13	<1.0	Soil
Exp1-13-D	<1.0	Soil
1		
Exp1-18	<1.0	Soil
Exp1-18-D	<1.0	Soil
Exp1-27	5.3	Soil
Exp1-27-D	4.1	Soil
Exp1-32	5.5	Soil
Exp1-32-D	5.5	Soil
-		
Exp1-41	16.3	Soil
Exp1-41-D	15.5	Soil
Exp1-46	19.6	Soil
Exp1-46-D	17.0	Soil
Exp1-54S	<1.0	Plant
Exp1-54S-D	<1.0	Plant
Exp1-59R	5.6	Plant
Exp1-59R-D	9.2	Plant
Exp1-62S	<1.0	Plant
Exp1-62S-D	<1.0	Plant
	1.0	
Expl-6/R	<1.0	Plant
Exp1-6/R-D	<1.0	Plant
Evol 708	<1.0	Dlant
Exp1-705	<1.0	Plant
Exp1-705-D	<1.0	Flain
Evn1_758	<10	Dlant
$E_{xp1-755}$ Fxn1-75S-D	<1.0	Plant
L'41-120-D	<b>\1.</b> U	1 14111

Exp1-78S	1.3	Plant	
Exp1-78S-D	1.3	Plant	
Exp1-83S	<1.0	Plant	
Exp1-83S-D	<1.0	Plant	
1			
Exp1-85S	2.7	Plant	
Exp1-85S-D	2.5	Plant	
I			
Exp1-87S	<1.0	Plant	
Exp1-87S-D	<1.0	Plant	
Exp1-92S	<1.0	Plant	
Exp1-92S-D	<1.0	Plant	

<sup>a</sup> Numbers before the dash represent soil samples, and those after the dash represent plant samples <sup>b</sup> Plant did not germinate

**Table B-6.** Soil Cd concentrations of the low and high Cd field plots at the PGC, and root and shoot Cd concentrations of *Brassica juncea* grown in the field experiment. Quality assurance and quality control data are included at the bottom of the table.

Sample Name <sup>a</sup>	Treatment	Soil [Cd]	Root [Cd]	Shoot [Cd]
		$(\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$	$(\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$	$(\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$
		7.0	0.60	1.04
PGC13-041/065	Low Cd A	7.8	0.62	1.94
PGC13-042/066	Low Cd B	11.1	0.76	2.10
PGC13-043/067	Low Cd C	7.6	0.75	1.86
PGC13-044/068	Low Cd D	n/a	0.57	1.31
PGC13-045/069	Low Cd E	n/a	0.65	1.65
PGC13-046/070	Low Cd F	n/a	0.65	1.32
PGC13-053/077	High Cd A	17.2	1.47	2.04
PGC13-054/078	High Cd B	20.9	0.97	1.78
PGC13-055/079	High Cd C	19.9	0.63	2.10
PGC13-056/080	High Cd D	n/a	1.01	1.24
PGC13-057/081	High Cd E	n/a	1.47	2.89
PGC13-058/082	High Cd F	n/a	0.90	1.59
Sample Name	$[Cd] (\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$	Matrix		
Blank	< 0.05	Plant		
Blank	< 0.05	Plant		

Blank	<1.0	Soil	
SS-2	1.9	Soil	
SS-2 Target	1.8		
NIST-1570A	2.11	Plant	
NIST-1570A	2.71	Plant	
NIST-1570A	2.26	Plant	
NIST-1570A	2.32	Plant	
NIST-1570A	2.40		
Target			
C			
PGC13-95	6.9	Soil	
PGC13-95-D	6.8	Soil	
PGC13-110	22.1	Soil	
PGC13-110-D	24.9	Soil	
	,		
PGC13-44	1.41	Plant	
PGC13-44-D	1.21	Plant	
PGC13-053	1.99	Plant	
PGC13-053-D	2.08	Plant	
PGC13-058	1.26	Plant	
PGC13-058-D	1.91	Plant	
	–		
PGC-068	0.55	Plant	
PGC-068-D	0.59	Plant	
PGC-077	1.62	Plant	
PGC-077-D	1.31	Plant	
PGC-082	0.89	Plant	
PGC-082-D	0.90	Plant	
1000020	0.70	1 10110	

<sup>a</sup> Numbers before the dash represent soil samples, and those after the dash represent plant samples

**Table B-7.** Sequential extraction results for low Cd and high Cd soils. Samples were converted from mg/L to  $\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$  by multiplying the value in mg/L by the final sample volume (mL) and dividing the product by the final sample weight (g). Quality assurance and quality control data are included at the bottom of the table.

Sample Name	Treatment	Fraction	[Cd] mg/L	Final Sample	Final Sample	[Cd]
				Volume (mL)	Weight (g)	$(\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$
PGC13-094	Low Cd Soil	F1	0.002	15	1.0147	0.0
		F2	0.066	8	1.0147	0.5
		F3	0.330	8	1.0147	2.6
		F4	0.271	15	1.0147	4.0
		F5	0.025	20	1.0147	0.5
		F6	0.021	25	1.0147	0.5
PGC13-104	High Cd Soil	F1	0.002	15	1.0702	0.0
		F2	0.074	8	1.0702	0.6
		F3	0.501	8	1.0702	3.7
		F4	0.788	15	1.0702	11.0
		F5	0.143	20	1.0702	2.7
		F6	0.137	25	1.0702	3.2

Sample Name	$[Cd] (\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$
Blank	<0.6
SS-2 SS-2 Target	1.4 1.8
PGC13-095 PGC13-095-D	8.0 7.7
Control (ICV)	[Cd] (mg/L)
Control	3.9

Control Target	4.0
Control	0.41
Control Target	0.40
Control	3.8
Control Target	4.0
Control	0.42
Control Target	0.40
Control	4.2
Control Target	4.0
Control	0.39
Control Target	0.40

Treatment	Root dry weight (g)	Shoot dry weight (g)
Poa compressa Control A		3.80
Poa compressa Control B	-	3.31
Poa compressa Control C	-	3 41
Poa compressa Low Cd A	-	7.02
Poa compressa Low Cd B	-	5.75
Poa compressa Low Cd C	-	3.28
Poa compressa High Cd A	-	11.99
Poa compressa High Cd B	_	12.14
Poa compressa High Cd C	_	11.98
Helianthus annuus Control A	1.89	8.62
Helianthus annuus Control B	2.45	15.04
Helianthus annuus Control C	2.33	16.02
Helianthus annuus Low Cd A	0.51	5.04
Helianthus annuus Low Cd B	0.59	4.81
Helianthus annuus Low Cd C	0.51	3.94
Helianthus annuus High Cd A	1.05	10.25
Helianthus annuus High Cd B	0.93	5.41
Helianthus annuus High Cd C	0.61	7.17
Brassica juncea Control A	0.95	5.77
Brassica juncea Control B	1.23	10.9
Brassica juncea Control C	2.36	6.94
Brassica juncea Low Cd A	0.38	1.00
Brassica juncea Low Cd B	0.23	1.49
Brassica juncea Low Cd C	0.47	1.58
Brassica juncea High Cd A	0.90	3.71
Brassica juncea High Cd B	1.29	5.16
Brassica juncea High Cd C	0.49	2.55
Chenopodium album Control A	0.57	2.44
Chenopodium album Control B	0.49	2.94
Chenopodium album Control C	0.68	3.33
Chenopodium album Low Cd A	-	-
Chenopodium album Low Cd B	-	-
Chenopodium album Low Cd C	0.7	4.43
Chenopodium album High Cd A	0.6	3.79
Chenopodium album High Cd B	0.75	4.21
Chenopodium album High Cd C	0.18	1.18

**Table B-8.** Final root and shoot dry weights (dw) for plants grown in the greenhouse pot experiment. Quality assurance and quality control data are included at the bottom of the table.

#### 8.3 **APPENDIX C**

**Raw data for Chapter 4** Ecological risk associated with phytoextraction of soil contaminants.

Table C-1. Cadmium concentrations in earthworms.

Sample Name	Treatment	$[Cd] (\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$
Exp2-01	Control A	8.2
Exp2-02	Control B	1.5
Exp2-03	Control C	6.0
Exp2-04	Low Cd A	33.2
Exp2-05	Low Cd B	31.7
Exp2-06	Low Cd C	24.8
Exp2-10	High Cd A	45.0
Exp2-11	High Cd B	51.2
Exp2-12	High Cd C	50.9
Blank	-	<1.0
Tort-2	-	22.3
Exp2-004	-	32.2
Exp2-004-D	-	34.3
Exp2-013	-	43.9
Exp2-013-D	-	48.2

Table C-1. Cadmium concentrations in earthworms. Quality control and quality assurance data are included at the bottom of the table.

## 8.4 APPENDIX D

#### Raw data for Chapter 5

Effect of biochar on cadmium fractionation with organic matter degradation in a soil amended with municipal solid waste/sewage sludge compost.

**Table D-1.** Cadmium concentrations in soil fractions of the control and biochar treatment soils before and after the soil ageing experiment.

Table D-2. Total (aqua regia) Cd concentrations in the control and biochar treatment soils.

Table D-3. Organic matter content of the control and biochar treatment soils at the start and end of the soil ageing experiment.

Sample Name	Treatment	Fraction	[Cd]	Final Sample	Final Sample	[Cd]
			(mg/L)	Volume (mL)	Weight (g)	$(\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$
SAE-01	Start – Control A	F1	< 0.025	15.0	1.0156	-
		F2	0.084	8.0	1.0156	0.7
		F3	0.513	8.0	1.0156	4.0
		F4	0.904	15	1.0156	13
		F5	0.079	20	1.0156	1.6
		F6	0.231	25	1.0156	5.7
SAE-02	Start – Control B	F1	< 0.025	15	1.0131	-
		F2	0.080	8	1.0131	0.63
		F3	0.435	8	1.0131	3.4
		F4	0.748	20	1.0131	14
		F5	0.129	20	1.0131	2.6
		F6	0.176	25	1.0131	4.3
SAE-03	Start – Control C	F1	< 0.025	15	1.0303	-
		F2	0.081	8	1.0303	0.63
		F3	0.453	8	1.0303	3.5
		F4	0.811	15	1.0303	11
		F5	0.174	20	1.0303	3.4
		F6	0.140	25	1.0303	3.4
SAE-04	Start – Biochar A	F1	< 0.025	15	1.0294	-
		F2	0.068	8	1.0294	0.53
		F3	0.401	8	1.0294	3.1
		F4	0.941	15	1.0294	13
		F5	0.140	20	1.0294	2.7
		F6	0.129	25	1.0294	3.1
SAE-05	Start – Biochar B	F1	< 0.025	15	1.0044	-
		F2	0.064	8	1.0044	0.51
		F3	0.438	8	1.0044	3.5

**Table D-1.** Cadmium concentrations in soil fractions of the control and biochar treatment soils before and after the soil ageing experiment. Samples were converted from mg/L to  $\mu g \cdot g^{-1}$  by multiplying the value in mg/L by the final sample volume (mL) and dividing the product by the final sample weight (g). Quality control and quality assurance data are included at the bottom of the table.

		F4	0.868	15	1.0044	12
		F5	0.153	20	1.0044	3.0
		F6	0.154	25	1.0044	3.8
SAE-06	Start – Biochar C	F1	< 0.025	15	1.0016	-
		F2	0.071	8	1.0016	0.57
		F3	0.410	8	1.0016	3.3
		F4	0.803	15	1.0016	12
		F5	0.105	20	1.0016	2.1
		F6	0.136	25	1.0016	3.4
SAE-43	End – Control A	F1	< 0.025	15	1.0507	-
		F2	0.073	8	1.0507	0.56
		F3	0.410	8	1.0507	3.1
		F4	0.907	15	1.0507	12
		F5	0.091	20	1.0507	1.7
		F6	0.204	25	1.0507	4.9
SAE-44	End – Control B	F1	< 0.025	15	1.0735	-
		F2	0.076	8	1.0735	0.57
		F3	0.410	8	1.0735	3.1
		F4	0.763	15	1.0735	10
		F5	0.082	20	1.0735	1.5
		F6	0.267	25	1.0735	6.2
SAE-45	End – Control C	F1	< 0.025	15	1.0821	-
		F2	0.075	8	1.0821	0.55
		F3	0.441	8	1.0821	3.3
		F4	0.727	15	1.0821	10
		F5	0.083	20	1.0821	1.5
		F6	0.278	25	1.0821	6.4
SAE-46	End – Biochar A	F1	< 0.025	15	1.0293	-
		F2	0.075	8	1.0293	0.58
		F3	0.381	8	1.0293	2.9
		F4	0.682	15	1.0293	9.9
		F5	0.082	20	1.0293	1.6
		F6	0.200	25	1.0293	4.9

SAE-47	End – Biochar B	F1	< 0.025	15	1.0135	-
		F2	0.067	8	1.0135	0.53
		F3	0.382	8	1.0135	3.0
		F4	0.822	15	1.0135	12
		F5	0.150	20	1.0135	3.0
		F6	0.129	25	1.0135	3.2
SAE-48	End – Biochar C	F1	< 0.025	15	1.0155	-
		F2	0.072	8	1.0155	0.56
		F3	0.386	8	1.0155	3.0
		F4	0.651	15	1.0155	9.6
		F5	0.158	20	1.0155	3.1
		F6	0.122	25	1.0155	3.0

Sample Name	$[Cd] (\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$
Blank	<0.6
Blank	<0.6
SS-2	1.4
SS-2	2.1
SS-2 Target	1.8
PGC13-095	7.7
PGC13-095-D	8.0
SAE-37	21.1
SAE-37-D	19.6
SAE-47	21.9
SAE-47-D	19.4

Control (ICV)	[Cd] (mg/L)	-
		-
Control	3.9	
Control Target	4.0	
Control	0.41	
Control Torget	0.40	
Control Target	0.40	
Control	3.8	
Control Target	4.0	
Control	0.42	
	0.42	
Control Target	0.40	
Control	4.2	
Control Target	4.0	
control ranget	7.0	
Control	0.39	
Control Target	0.40	

Sample Name	Treatment	$[Cd] (\mu g \cdot g^{-1})$	
SAE-07	Control A Start	22.9	
SAE-08	Control B Start	20.0	
SAE-09	Control C Start	22.1	
SAE-43	Control A End	21.1	
SAE-44	Control B End	21.2	
SAE-45	Control C End	21.9	
SAE-10	Biochar A Start	19.8	
SAE-12	Biochar B Start	18.5	
SAE-13	Biochar C Start	19.0	
SAE-46	Biochar A End	18.1	
SAE-47	Biochar B End	18.7	
SAE-48	Biochar C End	15.0	
Blank	-	<1.0	
SS-2	-	1.9	
SAE-04	-	20.3	
SAE-04	-	19.3	
SAE-047	_	17.7	
SAE-047	_	19.7	

**Table D-2.** Total (*aqua regia*) Cd concentrations in the control and biochar treatment soils. Quality control and quality assurance data are included at the bottom of the table.

**Table D-3.** Organic matter content of the control and biochar treatment soils at the start and end of the soil ageing experiment. Quality assurance data are included at the bottom of the table.

Sample Name	Treatment	Organic Matter (% LOI)
SAE-07	Control A Start	31.9
SAE-08	Control B Start	29.0
SAE-09	Control C Start	31.1
SAE-43	Control A End	27.7
SAE-44	Control B End	27.7
SAE-45	Control C End	26.7
SAE-10	Biochar A Start	33.6
SAE-12	Biochar B Start	36.0
SAE-13	Biochar C Start	35.3
SAE-46	Biochar A End	32.3
SAE-47	Biochar B End	32.2

SAE-48	Biochar C End	28.4	
SAE-45	Control C End	26.9	
SAE-45	Control C End	26.4	
SAE-48	Biochar C End	28.4	
SAE-48	Biochar C End	31.4	

#### 8.5 **APPENDIX E**

Additional Information Quality assurance and quality control targets.

Table E-1. Target values for quality assurance and quality control values used in this thesis.

QA/QC Type	Target Cd Value (µg⋅g <sup>-1</sup> ) (Laboratory Mean)	Warning Limits	Control Limits
Method Blank ICP-OES ICP-MS	<1.0 <0.05	n/a n/a	n/a n/a
Certified Reference Material			
NIST-1570A (Spinach)	2.4	2.2-2.7	2.0-2.9
SS-2	1.8	1.5-2.1	1.3-2.3
Tort-2	25.3	22.2-28.4	20.6-30.0
QA/QC Type	RSD <sup>a</sup> (%)		
Duplicate	70-130		

**Table E-1.** Inductively coupled plasma (ICP) target values for Cd in quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) samples.

<sup>a</sup> RSD = Relative